

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

8-23-2024

Effective Strategies for Improving the Performance of Underperforming Remote Federal Contract Specialists

Shaneika Imani Berryman Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Walden University

College of Management and Human Potential

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Shaneika Imani Berryman

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Kenneth Gossett, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Edward Walker, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2024

Abstract

Effective Strategies for Improving the Performance of Underperforming Remote Federal

Contract Specialists

by

Shaneika Imani Berryman

MBA, Walden University, 2017

BS, Urbana University, 2004

Research Project Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

August 2024

Abstract

At the onset of COVID-19, federal agency leaders had to increase workforce remote work capabilities to address the underperformance of teleworking employees.

Considering the employees' need for continued remote work while balancing this with the continued federal government functionality, improving employee performance regardless of work location is essential. Grounded in the job demands-resources theory, the purpose of this qualitative pragmatic inquiry was to explore the strategies that remote managers use to improve the performance of underperforming remote federal contract specialists. The participants were seven remote supervisors who manage remote working contract specialists at federal agencies. Data were collected using semistructured interviews and publicly available government reports. Through thematic analysis, four themes emerged: communication and feedback, workload, performance management, and collegial cohesion. A key recommendation is for federal administrators to evaluate whether underperformance exists, if a fair performance evaluation method is used, if there is a significant workload imbalance, and if adequate on-the-job training has been conducted outside formal courses. The implications for positive social change include the potential to increase the performance of contract specialists, ensure the appropriate expenditure of taxpayer dollars, and provide timely customer service to U.S. citizens.

Effective Strategies for Improving the Performance of Underperforming Remote Federal Contract Specialists

by

Shaneika Imani Berryman

MBA, Walden University, 2017 BS, Urbana University, 2004

Research Project Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

August 2024

Dedication

I have learned that you cannot cluck around with chickens if you want to soar with eagles. Only the courageous spread their wings and fly. I thank God for those who pushed me out of the nest and propelled me to lift off. This success was achieved through prayer, faith, conviction, and hard work. Thank you, Mom, for showing me the value of education and encouraging perseverance until achievement. Amadi, Dominique, Caleb, Shyla, and Joshua inspired me by reminding me how proud you are of me and that I would finish this. You are my fabulous five. You told me repeatedly, "Mom, you've got this, and pursue your dreams." I posthumously honor Annie R. Berryman, my grandmother, who is a constant inspiration. Friend, cheerleader, my Walden University day one, and colleague Dr. Khabira Salter, you are appreciated.

Thank you for being a friend, traveling down the road and back again, well, you know. I thank my colleagues Devonne and Rodneyta for your ever-ready encouragement and doctoral declarations. To my friend Andreea, you have been a fantastic support and prayer warrior. Jazz, we started from the bottom under the NSU oak friendship tree; who would have thought it? Lol. Mr. Chris Caldwell, you pushed me to restart, and now it is finished; thank you. I express extreme gratitude to my extended family and friends for your listening ear, support, prayers, and concern. You all have supported my journey, and we share in this success. Faith has become a fact.

Acknowledgments

Thank you to my Chair, Dr. Kenneth Gossett, for your guidance, support, understanding, affirmation, and diligence in helping me progress to completion. You believed in me and helped me embrace the process from the beginning without hesitation. I began to believe in myself and my ability to complete the project even more after every interaction with you. Thank you to Second Committee Member Dr. Edward Walker; I appreciate the commitment, collaboration, and quick feedback you both put forth in supporting my journey to the finish line. Ms. Jill and Ms. Sara, thank you for your guidance on editing so that I did not continue to make the same grammatical and syntax mistakes. Dr. Reginald Taylor, your video tools, rubric, handbook, and informative talks at the residency were a tremendous help. Thank you, Ms. Brittany Gladden and Dr. Richard Hay, for the great onboarding and student advising experience. To all faculty, librarians, Dr. Witty in Form & Style, and other support members of Walden University, you have been essential in achieving this academic goal. I am grateful to the research participants who helped me achieve this milestone. Thank you all for everything.

Table of Contents

List of Tables	. iv
Section 1: Foundation of the Project	1
Background of the Problem	1
Business Problem Focus and Project Purpose	2
Research Question	3
Assumptions and Limitations	3
Assumptions	3
Limitations	4
Transition	5
Section 2: Professional and Academic Literature Review	6
Introduction	6
Literature Review	6
Conceptual Framework	7
Job Resources	11
Job Demands	16
Worker Motivation	21
Absenteeism	25
Burnout	28
Organizational Commitment	30
Employee Engagement	33
Remote and Alternative Work	37

	Hawthorn Effect	42
	Transactional Leadership	44
	Transition Statement	48
Se	ection 3: Research Project Methodology	50
	Project Ethics	50
	Nature of the Project	52
	Population, Sampling, and Participants	52
	Data Collection Activities	53
	Interview Questions	54
	Data Organization and Analysis Techniques	55
	Data Organization Technique	55
	Data Analysis	55
	Reliability and Validity	58
	Dependability	59
	Credibility	59
	Transferability	60
	Confirmability	61
	Data Saturation	61
	Transition and Summary	62
Se	ection 4: Findings and Conclusions	64
	Introduction	64
	Presentation of the Findings	64

Employees Performance	65
Benefits of Employees Performing Well	65
Identifying Strategies to Improve Performance	66
Theme 1: Communication	67
Theme 2: Workload & Workload Management	72
Theme 3: Performance Management	74
Theme 4: Collegial Cohesion and Supervisory Support	80
Correlation to the Literature and Conceptual Framework	83
Implementing Strategies	86
Least Effective Strategies	86
Most Effective Strategies	88
Challenges When Implementing Strategies in a Remote Environment	91
In-Office versus Remote Work Differences	95
Business Contributions and Recommendations for Professional Practice	96
Implications for Social Change	99
Recommendations for Further Research	101
Conclusion	102
References	105
Appendix A: Invitation	131
Appendix B: Interview Protocol	132
Appendix C: Citi Certificate	136

List of Tables

Table 1. Review of the Literature	. 7
Table 2. Overarching Themes Related to Conceptual Framework	67

Section 1: Foundation of the Project

Since the federal government is one of the largest employers in the United States, with approximately 2.1 million federal civilian workers (Congressional Research Service, 2022), learning the strategies of how to support and increase federal worker performance could fuel social change. The current remote work policy allows the government to employ workers across the United States with varying skill sets. Some agencies may not otherwise have access if people were required to enter an office space in a specific locale (U.S. Government Accountability Office [GAO], 2022). Considering the changes in work environments for government workers, it is increasingly important to determine employee performance, mainly because of pressure to bring employees back to the office. The federal workforce supports the nation in meeting transportation, academic, infrastructure, human services, and housing needs. Therefore, those responsible for human capital management processes and strategies must use best practices and have foresight for efficiency and effective government outcomes (U.S. Office of Personnel Management, Human Capital Management, n.d.-a).

Background of the Problem

The federal government has been interested in employee performance since 1883. The Pendleton Act, or the Civil Service Act, established a merit-based system but did not include an evaluation mechanism (Office of Personnel Management, 2023). The Government Accountability Office (GAO) gave the Office of Personnel Management (OPM) four suggestions for improving the payroll reporting system. The GAO encourages OPM to improve the reliability of data standards, increase internal controls,

develop a process so payroll can be integrated into more extensive databases, and monitor error reports. Had the agencies provided the information to OPM during the GAO audit, OPM could have potentially improved telework reporting and provided Congress with better documentation, per request by Congress, when the parameters for the CARES Act were being considered (GAO-22-104282, 2022).

With the rise of COVID-19, federal agency administrators had to make administrative changes to improve and enhance remote work opportunities. The 118th Congress introduced H.R. 139, the Home Office Work's Unproductive Problems Act of 2023, also known as the SHOW UP Act, to address low productivity among remote federal government employees, including those working alternative work schedules. This law did not cancel telework but required all government entities to return to pre-COVID-19 telework policies. Although some in Congress have implied, during the enactment of this Act, that employee laziness and complacency cause underperformance, the counterargument offered is that other causes could be workload, total work hours, and management expectations (Li et al., 2022). A feedback system supplying appropriate software, an increased workforce, and adequate employee training to develop the requisite skills and knowledge could address Congressional concerns regarding employee underperformance (Armstrong & Taylor, 2020).

Business Problem Focus and Project Purpose

The specific business problem is that some remote managers at federal agneed morees lack strategies to increase the job performance of underperforming remote federal contract specialists. Therefore, this qualitative pragmatic inquiry aimed to explore the

strategies that remote managers at federal agencies use to improve the job performance of underperforming remote contract specialists. The targeted populations were supervisory contract specialists and general managers who work remotely and supervise contracting specialists who had effectively implemented strategies to enhance the performance of contract specialists who were previously underperforming. Data for the project were collected through semi-structured interviews with open-ended questions, specifically targeting six or more supervisory contract specialists and general managers who were selected through snowball and purposive sampling. Social media sites, professional contracting management organizations, and colleague references were sources from which I obtained participants. Additionally, publicly available government reports about employee performance management strategies within the government were examined. I used Bakker and Demerouti's (2007) Job Demands and Resources theory (JD-R) as the conceptual framework for this study.

Research Question

What strategies do remote managers at federal agencies use to increase the job performance of underperforming remote federal contract specialists?

Assumptions and Limitations

Assumptions

An assumption in research is what the researcher accepts as truth without theoretical support (Poucher et al., 2019). When conducting a survey, a researcher holds a collection of assumptive beliefs and viewpoints that impact and inform the researcher's approach to their study, specifically its analysis, method, and design, which helps the

researcher determine the most effective means for obtaining information to answer the research question (Almasri & McDonald, 2021). I made the following assumptions in this study: (a) The participants answered the interview questions truthfully based on their personal experiences, (b) federal contracting managers will have dealt with underperforming contract specialists who work remotely and have employed strategies to improve worker performance, (c) the participants understand current policies and procedures regarding remote work and the handling of underperformance in workers, and (d) the interview participants view underperformance as a problem that hinders managers from having fully functional teams, thereby reducing the ability of the government to receive needed goods and services.

Limitations

A limitation is a reliance on participants responding truthfully (Coker, 2022). A researcher must not only be aware of but must also address the weaknesses in their study because those are the limitations that affect the study's validity (Hennink & Kaiser, 2022). Research limitations are potential factors, shortcomings, flaws, or conditions beyond the researcher's control (Zhou & Jain, 2023). In qualitative research, one possible limitation is ensuring that the participant sample size is adequate to gather the appropriate quality and amount of information (Giumelli & Van Roozendaal, 2017). The second limitation is the misinterpretation of the results and potential researcher bias. Considering these limitations, a sample size of seven remote federal government contract specialist managers was selected for this research, and data saturation was achieved by performing

enough interviews to ensure sufficient information had been gathered, and member checking was employed.

Transition

In this qualitative pragmatic study, I explored the strategies used by remote managers at federal agencies to improve the job performance of underperforming remote contract specialists. Section 1 includes the background of the problem, business problem and project purpose statements, research question, assumptions, and limitations. Section 2 will include the literature review. Topics covered in the literature review include job demands and resources, worker motivation, absenteeism, burnout, organizational commitment, employee engagement, remote and alternative work, the Hawthorne effect, and transactional leadership.

Section 2: Professional and Academic Literature Review

Introduction

In this study, I explored the strategies that remote managers at federal agencies use to improve the job performance of underperforming remote contract specialists. I reviewed academic literature to develop and support an understanding of this phenomenon. My focus was on job demands, job resources, employee engagement, burnout described by Bakker et al. (2007), organizational commitment, absenteeism, worker motivation, remote work locations, the Hawthorne Effect, and transactional leadership. My literature review included multiple data ideas for reference. I used peer-reviewed journal articles from databases such as Google Scholar, ProQuest, Sage Premier, Academic Search Complete, EBSCOhost, Science Direct, Research Gate, Business Source Complete, and Emerald Management.

Literature Review

I used multiple sources from the Walden University online library. To locate scholarly, peer-reviewed journal articles for further evaluation, I searched for the following items: absenteeism, burnout, COVID-19, employee engagement, federal contract specialists, government contracting, Hawthorne effect, job demands, job performance, job resources, organizational commitment, performance appraisal, performance management, remote work, remote work locations, task performance, teleworking, transactional distance, work engagement, work performance, work productivity, and worker motivation. I found various references, including government

documents, journals, and books. Of the peer-reviewed references in this literature review, over 81% were under five years old.

Table 1Review of the Literature

Type of Citations and References	Review of the literature before 2019	Review of the literature On/after 2019	Total
Peer-reviewed citations	14	66	80
Books	0	0	0
Dissertations	1	0	1
Total	15	66	80
Percentages	7.5%	82.5%	100%

Note: 82.5% of the peer-reviewed citations were within the past five years, and 18.9% were before 2019.

I used Google Scholar and peer-reviewed, as well as non-peer-reviewed journals, as a foundation for the business problem, interview questions, and information in the literature review. The literature review includes scholars' research and findings about improving employee performance. The management strategies will inform leaders on increasing employee productivity and efficiency in remote working locations.

Conceptual Framework

The (JD-R) theory was developed by Bakker and Demerouti (2007) to explain the influence that JD-R has on the well-being of employees (El Mouedden et al., 2022). The premise is that (JD-R) impacts employee job performance, well-being, burnout, and work engagement. The JD-R theory has successfully integrated insights from four theories of job stress and work motivation, including Herzberg's two-factor theory, Hackman and

Oldham's job characteristics theory, Karasek's job demands-control model, Siegrist's effort-reward imbalance model, and Hobfoll et al.'s conservation of resources theory (Bakker et al., 2023). Herzberg's two-factor theory, developed by Herzberg in 1966, suggests that two sets of factors influence job satisfaction and motivation: hygiene factors and motivators. Hygiene factors are extrinsic factors such as salary, job security, and working conditions that can prevent dissatisfaction when present but do not necessarily lead to satisfaction. The motivators are intrinsic factors such as recognition, achievement, and responsibility that can lead to satisfaction and motivation (Siruri & Cheche, 2021). Other factors contributing to job satisfaction include achievement, recognition, work, accountability, and advancement. In contrast, factors contributing to job dissatisfaction include working conditions, administration, supervision, interpersonal relationships, company policy, and salary (Dong & Yan, 2022).

Hackman and Oldham's job characteristics theory, introduced in 1976, expands on Herzberg's two-factor theory by identifying five core job characteristics that determine employee satisfaction: autonomy, skill variety, feedback, task significance, skill variety, and task identity (Berdicchia & Masino, 2020). This theory suggests that five core job characteristics—skill variety, task identity, task significance, autonomy, and feedback—determine employee satisfaction (Akuffo et al., 2021). According to Hackman and Oldham, the presence of these attributes in a work environment leads to increased motivation, performance, and pleasure for individuals. The job demands-control model, introduced by Karasek in 1979, highlights the interplay between job demands and the

level of control an individual has over their work as factors that influence job satisfaction and overall well-being.

The job demands-control paradigm emphasizes the interplay between job needs and control. According to this model, high job demands and low control increase stress and decrease job satisfaction. The model further indicates that job demands can cause significant stress and potentially result in adverse health outcomes, especially when job control is limited (Skillgate et al., 2021). The Conservation of Resources theory (COR), proposed by Hobfoll in 1989, is another foundational theory that underpins the JDR. This theory focuses on the role of resource loss and gains in individuals' experiences of job satisfaction and well-being. According to this theory, individuals strive to acquire, retain, and protect their resources because resources are necessary for achieving goals and maintaining well-being. These theories offer valuable insights into the correlation between job characteristics and employee well-being, satisfaction, and motivation (Benge & Beattie, 2021).

The Siegrist effort-reward imbalance (ERI) model focuses on psychosocial work characteristics with a contradiction between costs and gains in social interactions. The concept is grounded in social reciprocity inherent in the employee/employer work arrangement (Ren et al., 2018). The theory further expounds on the idea that individuals will experience stress when they believe there is an imbalance between the effort exerted in their work and the inadequate rewards they receive. Further, repeated encounters of unfulfilled exchanges create persistent negative emotions characterized by feeling

deprived of rewards, leading to psychobiological stress reactions. Effort, reward, and over-commitment are the components that scaffold the model.

The term 'effort' refers to the external work requirements. The term 'reward' is derived from three distinct sources: salary, monetary compensation, or wages (termed financial reward), job stability and career advancement (known as a status-related reward), and the perception of esteem or acknowledgment received from others (socioemotional reward). Employees engage in over-commitment as a coping mechanism to address challenging circumstances by exhibiting excessive dedication toward work performance (Ren et al., 2018). One key difference between the original theorists' work from which JDR was derived and the JDR theory is that the original models use a narrow view of job characteristics. In contrast, the JDR offers a more comprehensive list of characteristics that instill job stress or motivation. In both the job performance and organizational context, all four theories indicate that physical, social, or psychological job demands and resources impact employee well-being. Furthermore, these factors may indirectly affect employee stress, behavior, and performance.

The JD-R theory incorporates a flexible and broad range of job characteristics, unlike its foundational predecessors that focused on a few. These diverse job characteristics influence burnout and work engagement (Ren et al., 2018). While each organization has unique characteristics and job requirements, the JD-R theory categorizes these characteristics into two groups: job demands and job resources (Demerouti, 2018). Job demands include a job's physical, psychological, social, or organizational aspects that require sustained effort and energy expenditure. Demands may manifest as increased

workload, unexpected meetings, schedule changes, policy or organizational updates that may seem unfavorable, organizational changes and transitions, and emotional demands (El Mouedden et al., 2022).

There are two distinct stages within the JD-R theory. The initial stage pertains to the health impairment process (burnout) manifested by the increased frequency and intensity of job demands, such as workload, email demands, and interpersonal conflicts, resulting in an augmented need for employee effort. The second stage of the process involves job resources like skill variety, social support, and feedback to meet fundamental psychological needs and foster employee work engagement and motivation. Both job demands and resources must be balanced to ensure employees' well-being. An imbalance can result in unmet psychological needs of competence, relatedness, and autonomy (Li et al., 2022). However, with sufficient job resources, job satisfaction, work commitment, and well-being increase (Hakanen et al., 2021). The equilibrium between demands and resources in the workplace guarantees well-being and performance. Workload as a demand and social support as a resource are the most prevalent characteristics across various occupational groups. Managers should promptly acknowledge and tackle structural and organizational issues to promote continuous employee health and well-being.

Job Resources

Job resources are the physical, psychological, social, or organizational supports that assist individuals in reducing stress, burnout, and other negative aspects of the job arising from job demands. These resources can include social support, autonomy in

decision-making, feedback and recognition, opportunities for growth and development, and adequate time and equipment to complete tasks (Edney et al., 2018).

Social Support

One of the additional areas of interest within the JDR theory drawn from the COR is social support. Hobfoll (2002) defines social support as an individual's impression of support, tangible assistance, and self-support. Strong social support networks help people manage stress and achieve mental well-being due to their capacity to leverage their support system in navigating challenging circumstances. The social support construct emphasizes accumulating and enhancing resource gains over time instead of the depletion of resources resulting from stress-induced strain. Those with social support deal with stress better and achieve improved mental health because they can mobilize their support system to contend with situations (Hobfoll, 2002).

Kabito and Wami (2020) conducted a cross-sectional survey in Ethiopian public secondary schools, with a response rate of over 96%. The study indicated a prevalence of work-related stress above 58%, dependent on the level of education, job demands, years of experience (less than five), and poor relationships with colleagues. When there is a balance between job demands and worker experience, the worker experiences a reduction in work-related stress. As shown in the Kabito and Wami study, relationships with colleagues who serve as social support reduce the impact of job demands. Social support also reduces worker alienation and social isolation, which is crucial when a worker is isolated from colleagues in a remote work environment.

Mehta (2022) investigated the loss of task identity, job insecurity, and work-from-home isolation with the mediator of work alienation among the 312 information technology (IT) professionals in India surveyed. The study's findings suggest that 35.8% of job insecurity is directly influenced by the isolation and loss of task identity among the remote working participants. The research discovered that work alienation played a complementary mediating role between task identity, job insecurity, and work-from-home isolation. These social resources may include supportive colleagues and supervisors who provide emotional support, guidance, and assistance when needed. Mensah (2021) states that social support can create a sense of belonging, interconnectedness, and employee well-being. Social support plays a crucial role in building resilience to work demands or fostering a supportive and collaborative work environment, wherein organizations can provide employees with the social resources they need to meet job demands effectively.

Job Autonomy

According to the JD-R paradigm, the well-being and productivity of employees are influenced by job-related and personal resources. Job autonomy refers to the extent to which individuals are granted independence and discretion in fulfilling their professional responsibilities (Galanti et al., 2021). In the Galanti et al. (2021) study, the researchers examined the impact of various factors on worker productivity, stress levels, and work engagement. The researchers administered a questionnaire to 209 employees who were working remotely. The questionnaire evaluated the influence of family—work conflict, work environment, self-leadership, social isolation, and job autonomy on these outcomes.

The data were analyzed, and results revealed that family-work conflict and social isolation had a detrimental impact on distant workers' productivity and job engagement. However, when employees could assume leadership roles and operate independently, it resulted in a notable improvement in production levels and overall engagement (Galanti et al., 2021). Worth and Van den Brande (2020) examined job autonomy from the lens of the observed shortage of teachers entering the profession in England. The researchers investigated the relationship between teacher autonomy, retention rates, and work satisfaction. Results indicated that when teachers have job autonomy, there is a significant impact on student performance because teachers can better manage their workload, enjoy greater job satisfaction, and be less prone to leaving the profession. The study results are essential for educational administrators (Worth & Van den Brande, 2020).

The study by Worth and Van den Brande (2020) yielded robust recommendations on educational administrators' management of teacher autonomy. Administrators have a certain degree of influence over instructors' actions because they can balance granting freedom and ensuring alignment with instructional objectives. Establishing a collective vision within the school community is vital, allowing educators to engage and participate meaningfully. In turn, this enhances the advantages derived from progressively granting teachers more autonomy, which is aligned with the overarching objectives of the school. Job satisfaction increases when teachers are allowed to act autonomously. Collaboration and communication within the school community increase teacher self-reflection, balance, organizational goal alignment, and autonomy (Worth & Van den Brande, 2020).

Kengatharan (2020) recognized the recent focus on teacher job satisfaction and autonomy. In the study, Kengatharan utilized theories such as self-determination theory, the JD-R model, and a student involvement theory to establish the link between teacher autonomy, student behavior, and job satisfaction. Data was collected from 703 state schoolteachers in Sri Lanka through a self-administered questionnaire. The findings indicated that student engagement in the classroom somewhat influences teachers' job satisfaction. Furthermore, the research revealed that teachers with higher levels of autonomy exhibit positive connections between job satisfaction and student behavior (Kengatharan, 2020).

Organizational Communication

Clear communication and feedback are tools used in successful organizations because they are essential for providing employees with the necessary information to meet job requirements and demands (Zito et al., 2021). Additionally, feedback helps employees identify areas needing improvement and sets them on the path towards success, rewards, and promotions (Bieńkowska et al., 2022). Dhone and Sarwoko (2022) evaluated human resource managers and the impact of internal communication on employee motivation and performance. The researchers concluded that communication is crucial for strengthening organizational harmony, success, and employee performance. In the study, forty-five workers completed Likert scale questionnaires. Results indicated that internal communication enhances motivation, performance, and morale. The study further revealed that when employees fully understand the company's vision, direction, and have clear work expectations and performance measures during feedback sessions, the mutual

understanding between the employer and employee is improved (Dhone & Sarwoko, 2022). Timely performance feedback, clearly defined job expectations, and organizational goals established and communicated by leadership lead to improved job performance (Gnepp et al., 2020). Dhone and Sarwoko (2022) identified a positive relationship between internal communication and employee motivation. As employees gain a better understanding of expectations, a drive for high performance emerges, propelling the company towards success, particularly when employees are empowered to provide feedback to their employers.

Internal communication is an essential aspect of human resource management within an organization. This study analyzes how employees perceive internal communication and the impact of internal communication and employee motivation on employee performance. The study also examines the role of motivation in the relationship between internal communication and organizational performance. For information gathering, a questionnaire was disseminated to the personnel of BPJS Malang City. The data were analyzed using Path Analysis, which shows that enhancing internal communication could improve employee performance.

Job Demands

The increased need for exertion represents job demands, depleting employees' physical, emotional, and cognitive capacities, potentially resulting in job strain, fatigue, and health issues (Li et al., 2022). When too many expectations are placed upon them, employees may experience physical and psychological strain, tiredness, and a loss of motivation.

Demands Further Categorized

The demands category can be further divided into subsections based on the psychological impact on the employee, as assessed by the Copenhagen Psychosocial Questionnaire. Mockałło and Widerszal-Bazyl (2021) suggest further categorizing demands as either hindrance or challenge demands depending on the psychological outcomes. A hindrance demand is defined as work-related situations that hinder the successful completion of work tasks without benefiting the employee, such as company policies, bureaucracy, and job insecurity (Mockałło & Widerszal-Bazyl, 2021). A challenge demand is characterized by inducing stress, such as a position of authority, a heavy workload, and time-related responsibilities. However, it differs from hindrances as the employee gains valuable benefits. As per Mockałło and Widerszal-Bazyl (2021), hindrance demands lead to lower employee work engagement, higher turnover intent, decreased job satisfaction, and disengagement from job performance. In contrast, the study by Mockałło and Widerszal-Bazyl (2021) demonstrates a positive correlation between challenge demands and work engagement, employee effectiveness, job satisfaction, and motivation to perform tasks. Nevertheless, despite the advantages, one drawback is the compromise on individual well-being.

Workload

The World Health Organization research indicates that the workplace is more optimal when the employee has job control or autonomy and the knowledge, skills, and abilities to perform the workload (World Health Organization, 2020). Work-related stress is less likely to be experienced by the worker when job objectives and skills match.

Employees with control over their workload, support from managers and coworkers, and the opportunity to participate in employment choices also minimize the risk of work pressure resulting from the workload. When Van den Oetelaar (2021) studied the workload management of two sets of nurses, they found that perception became a reality. During this study, the first group of nurses had a managed workload, and the other group had a more organic perceived workload. Nurse workload perception was assessed via a 5-dimensional survey to identify the differences between the organic and modeled workloads.

The results of the Van den Oetelaar (2021) study indicate that when the workload is high, there is an increased chance for nurse turnover, medication errors, reduced job satisfaction, adverse patient care outcomes, and physical illness for the nurses.

Administrators must manage workloads appropriately. Yet this study differs in recognizing that perception and reality are two different phenomena and that other factors play into a balanced workload. For instance, a nurse can have ten stroke patients, and another may have ten with the flu. Although the number of patients is proportional, the workload between the nurses is disproportional because of the type of care required.

This study also revealed that patient care is reduced when nurses perceive workload as cumbersome. The employee's perception of the workload creates stress and anxiety. Thus, there is a direct correlation between the actual and perceived workload. Personal and environmental factors must also be considered, as the employee will perform better if the job demands are reduced. A key factor may be the employees' perception of the workload and what each individual can manage. Skaalvik and Skaalvik

(2018) aimed to understand the connection between JD-R, well-being, teacher turnover intention, engagement, and the school environment. The study involved 760 first through tenth-grade teachers from the Norwegian School System in the Skaalvik & Skaalvik (2018) study. The primary challenge and leading cause of teacher turnover intention and attrition across the global teaching workforce is workload and time pressure (Skaalvik & Skaalvik, 2018). Work, time pressure, and teacher demands are faced on various levels: personal (conflicts with colleagues), system (legal requirements), and school/classroom level (class size). Time and work pressure can involve missing rest periods, rushing through curriculum subjects, teaching students with diverse skill levels and motivation, and managing disruptions (Karner & Honing, 2021).

Researchers found that when teachers perceived high job demands, their well-being decreased (Skaalvik & Skaalvik, 2018). Two critical stressors in the work environment were time and workload constraints. In contrast, well-being increased when teachers felt supported or had significant job resources available, although the correlation was not absolute. The most critical determinant of teacher well-being was time pressure. However, work environment and workload constraints can be balanced when a teacher has positive collegial relationships and feels a sense of purpose and meaningfulness in job performance (Skaalvik & Skaalvik, 2018).

No matter the type of demand placed on the employee, there is an indication that a more balanced and healthier workplace, as indicated by organizational conditions that promote health and well-being, has a significant positive impact on employee stress, health, and well-being (Asplund et al., 2022). Asplund et al. further indicate in their

qualitative study of Swedish municipal workers regarding work-related stress that the level of workload, issues with colleagues and leadership, as well as limited ability to influence work outcomes and opportunities, account for four out of ten occupational health-related illnesses such as exhaustion, stress-related disorders, feeling powerless, difficulty sleeping, panic attacks, and increased head, neck, and back pain. The study indicated that women were more impacted than men. The feelings of helplessness, frustration, anxiety, and dismay primarily stemmed from the workload in the Swedish study and the lack of control over the work environment and job-related tasks. A researcher could hypothesize that if employees are given more job control, job demands would become more manageable as they could shift their time and resources into categories and tasks that the individual employee believes they can handle.

Management Strategies

To balance job demands and resources, organizations can employ several strategies to redistribute tasks and increase breaks throughout the workday (Vieten et al., 2022). They can also enhance employee support by offering training and development opportunities, counseling, collegial and supervisory support, feedback, and rewards (Blum & Rigotti, 2021). Training and development opportunities boost employees' skill sets and equip them with additional tools to improve personal resources, potentially reducing the impact of demands. By implementing these strategies, organizations can create a conducive work environment that enhances employee well-being and satisfaction. Moreover, granting employees job autonomy and control through flexible

work arrangements or involvement in organizational decision-making increases their effectiveness (Heijkants et al., 2022).

According to Hobfoll (2002), job requirements necessitate allocating resources that possess intrinsic value. These resources play a significant role in increasing employee performance and can be accessed within an organization. They include salary, career opportunities, and interpersonal and social relations with supervisors and coworkers. To summarize, job resources such as autonomy, feedback, and social support are crucial in achieving work goals, coping with demands, and facilitating learning. Increasing employee resources empowers employees to have more control over their work, feel supported by colleagues and supervisors, receive information and guidance to improve performance, and feel supported by their colleagues and supervisors.

Worker Motivation

The Office for National Statistics in the United Kingdom (2021) reported that before the pandemic, only 5% of the workforce mainly worked from home, and only 27% occasionally did so. However, the Chartered Institute of Personnel and Development (2020) projected that 22% of employees will primarily work from home, and 37% will do so more often. Job requirements entail allocating intrinsically valuable resources such as pay, career information, performance feedback, and the support of superiors and employees, according to Hobfoll (2002). Koekemoer et al. (2021) stated that there is a limited understanding of COVID-19's impact on motivation, leadership, and employee performance despite its noticeable effect on the world. The researchers aimed to assess the interplay among leadership behavior, team efficiency, technological adaptability,

work enthusiasm, and overall performance in South Africa at the height of the nationwide lockdowns. Both from practical and academic perspectives, there was a solid interest in examining team productivity, job commitment, leadership dynamics, and tech adaptability during this period. Koekemoer et al. targeted 229 people working remotely through online platforms. They used advanced statistical methods, including structural equation modeling, to carefully review the data and considered diverse levels of pessimism and optimism. They found that work enthusiasm was rooted in positive leaders and efficient team members, enhancing two areas of performance: proactive behavior and adaptiveness. Both indirectly influenced proactivity and adaptability through enthusiasm for one's job. Thus, Koekemoer et al. concluded that organizations should encourage resources related to employment to increase work commitment, which will lead to positive results in performance, especially concerning remote work. Since the 2020 global pandemic, when the UK government advocated a work-from-home approach, many businesses have integrated remote work into their long-term plans. Managerial coaching is one way to enhance positive leadership behavior, as found by Burroughs and Grant (2023).

Burroughs and Grant conducted a qualitative analysis to delve into the role of managerial coaching in growing a sense of trust among remote employees. The researchers were guided by the social determination theory as their framework. They conducted comprehensive interviews with 15 workers and found that such coaching is pivotal for instilling and preserving trust so employees can feel confident in their skills and esteemed as people. Not only does this finding bridge a gap in knowledge in

managerial coaching, but it also reinforces the idea that employees who feel trusted are more critical than their trust in leadership regarding remote work performance. Burroughs and Grant concluded that training in managerial coaching could arm managers with the competencies to motivate and extend trust effectively to their teams who work at a remote distance. Furthermore, as teams become more remotely centered, managers must refine their communication skills and be more sensitive to the psychological needs of workers.

As in other studies on employee motivation, active encouragement is crucial to ensure that employees maintain consistent productivity. Many workers faced personal crises, such as family members falling ill or passing away due to COVID-19, placing significant financial stress on their families. Therefore, relying solely on self-motivation from employees was inadequate. The research by Supriyono and Susmonowati (2022) focused on assessing the effectiveness of remote work and identifying challenges faced by both employees and their supervisors in maintaining productivity while working from home. The researchers utilized a qualitative case study approach, conducting semistructured interviews with 10 participants, including eight from various departments and two managers. The study highlighted the significance of leadership motivation in ensuring employees' continued efficiency during the global health crisis.

Additionally, relying solely on self-motivation may not boost productivity when managers fail to offer motivational support. When employers establish high expectations without corresponding motivational incentives, employee stress escalates, leading to suboptimal performance. The researchers suggested exploring employee motivation from

different perspectives in future studies. Sanhokwe (2022) examined the blurred boundaries between personal life and work responsibilities, especially during remote work scenarios, and highlighted how an individual's unique personal circumstances can affect their engagement and efficiency at work. Using the conservation of resources theory as a framework, Sanhokwe delved into how external support and personal challenges impact work commitment and productivity. Sanhokwe aimed to understand the interaction between personal life factors and work dynamics to develop strategies for effective resource management, enhancing productivity and loyalty. Sanhokwe's study surveyed 185 employees from non-governmental organizations, employed structural models to analyze intermediary effects, and proposed interconnections supported by bootstrapping. The study revealed a positive correlation between work commitment and personal resources, with external support mitigating specific challenges related to work commitment, influencing the relationship between work productivity and individual life factors. The researcher recommended that business leaders strive to comprehend the intricate link between personal life circumstances and work responsibilities.

Although previous researchers suggested that those with solid self-discipline might cope more effectively, the specific reasons for this finding were not entirely understood. Troll et al. (2022) emphasized job performance as a significant challenge during the hasty transition to remote work globally. Troll et al. used a mixed-methods approach to examine how specific self-control strategies in remote settings might connect to an employee's work performance and their internalized self-discipline. The researchers analyzed 266 employees and identified prevalent strategies, including cognitive

techniques, workplace alterations, self-drive, and establishing clear steps to complete their work. Another quantitative assessment of 106 remote employees demonstrated that those with high levels of self-control usually outperformed those who did not share those levels. The results were robust in altering their office space and raising self-motivation. The research results of Troll et al. (2022) indicate that self-discipline plays a role in successful work engagement for professionals in remote workspaces.

Absenteeism

Aronsson et al. (2021) used their research study to delve more deeply into contrasting research findings on aspects of the work environment connected both to employees being at work or being absent when sick to discern why and when some employees decide to come to work when sick (also known as "substitution"). The study was conducted in Sweden using data between 2002 and 2007 from many cross-sectional questionnaires (n=130,161) in a national campaign for health enhancement. Many respondents were public employees and those from the private sector. The Aronsson et al. (2021) study involved examining how motivation and health mediated five workplace element effects, including collegial support, interference between family life and work, job autonomy, role discord, and work demands related to the decision by workers to come to work when ill or stay home. They found that increased workload was the main reason behind higher substitution than absence. As a direct effect, higher collegial support resulted in lower absences, whereas increased support lowered both absenteeism and presenteeism regarding motivation and health.

The most significant factor was work autonomy, which promoted health and decreased absenteeism and presenteeism. However, work-to-family life conflicts and roles were associated with a decrease in health and an increase in both types of illness-related work behavior. Aronsson et al. concluded their study by highlighting research contradictions concerning working when sick, being absent due to sickness, work demands, and support. Therefore, they recommended understanding the importance of the substitution effect for strategies and workplace practices in occupational health.

Ryoo et al. (2023) discuss how the COVID-19 pandemic has significantly increased remote work and telecommuting. They mention the controversial adverse effects or positive benefits for the worker. The researchers' main objective was to determine the difference in occupational health risks between those who commuted to their workplace daily in person and those who worked remotely during the pandemic. Ryoo et al. used a cross-sectional approach drawing from data from the 6th Korean Working Conditions Survey (from 2020 to 2021). The focus group consisted of 12,354 salaried white-collar employees. Health conditions like insomnia, depression, musculoskeletal discomfort, anxiety, eye strain, fatigue, absenteeism, and presenteeism were self-reported. Ryoo et al. (2023) used advanced statistical analysis and considered gender differences to assess the health outcomes for remote workers. Of the studied participants, 338 men and 318 women were teleworkers. The comprehensive regression model determined connections between telecommuting and various health issues such as insomnia, fatigue, pain in the musculoskeletal system, and eye strain. There was also a

significant gender disparity; female telecommuters showed a heightened risk for depression and insomnia compared to those commuting daily.

Ryoo et al. (2023) concluded that telecommuting is strongly linked to rising health challenges in the South Korean workforce, especially for women. While more studies are necessary to confirm causation, they suggest that public health interventions can mitigate potential adverse effects related to remote work. Since technology has advanced remote work, there has been a noteworthy change in work dynamics, with time and location becoming more flexible. However, the relationship between well-being, health, and remote work is still being determined.

Heiden et al. (2021) aimed to identify associations between the duration and frequency of remote work and stress levels, health perceptions, recovery periods, work-life balance, and intrinsic motivation toward work among university faculty. As a result, they distributed five surveys to academic staff, including lecturers and tenured professors in Sweden. This digital survey comprised the Work Stress Questionnaire, recovery evaluation items, the General Health Questionnaire, sections of the Copenhagen Psychosocial Questionnaire, and the Basic Psychological Need Satisfaction at Work scale, receiving responses from 392 participants. Using advanced statistical analysis, Heiden et al. discovered significant variations based on the frequency of remote work among different faculty groups (p < 0.05). Their analysis revealed that unclear organizational structures and related conflicts led to heightened stress levels in individuals who teleworked multiple times per week compared to those who teleworked infrequently (e.g., once a month). While exploring the relationship between telework

duration (weekly hours) and the mentioned factors, Heiden et al. found no significant correlations. Ultimately, the researchers concluded that their study did not determine whether stress arises from frequent telework or if preexisting stress prompts more telework.

Burnout

Freudenberger and Maslach first identified burnout in the 1970s as a condition characterized by emotional exhaustion and decreased professional motivation and engagement (Demerouti et al., 2021). Burnout has been defined as a critical issue in the work-related domain, impacting individuals across various professional fields. Burnout is characterized by two fundamental dimensions: Exhaustion includes stress-related weariness, despair, psychosomatic problems, and anxiety; Cynicism, sometimes called depersonalization, is characterized by apathy, mental detachment, and work disengagement (Demerouti et al., 2021). Burnout is a physical, psychological, and emotional response to a high-pressure work environment that impacts performance. Work stress is the common culprit that creates burnout (Wulantika et al., 2023).

Burnout results from high stress levels created through occurrences on an individual and organizational level, according to Edú-Valsania et al. (2022). Burnout stems from a lack of leadership, management, and organizational structure on the corporate front. Although it was initially thought that burnout only affected service workers, evidence indicates that so many professions have been impacted that the World Health Organization has classified burnout as a syndrome in their 11th Revision of the International Classification of Diseases. From a psychosocial perspective, those who

experience burnout have symptoms of frustration, exhaustion, and demotivation. These feelings can sometimes result in negative outbursts towards colleagues and chronic health issues (Edú-Valsania et al., 2022).

In Wulantika et al. (2023), 31 Jayakarta Suites Bandung employees used an online questionnaire to examine how social support and job burnout affect employee performance. The study found that while social support does not affect performance, burnout partially affects employee performance. The study findings further indicate that when employees' workloads are well managed, they have a good relationship with their coworkers based on praise, acknowledgment of their ideas, encouragement, and employee performance support. Social support in and of itself does not increase employee performance, but when combined with adequate workload and work saturation, it does affect employee performance (Wulantika et al., 2023).

In a quantitative study, Lafraxo et al. (2021) assessed the prevalence of burnout among 30 nursing staff to determine the socio-demographic and professional characteristics of burnout. The participants took two surveys: the Copenhagen Inventory on burnout and a two-section self-administered survey, to assess the relationship of burnout to experienced nurses and socio-demographics. The researchers then asked the nurses to use an app-invented tool designed to train, evaluate, and provide support. 83% agreed to use this solution. The Burnout Scratch and Inventory tool are used to create a prevention tool to teach people about the causes of burnout, assess their physiological health, offer support in the form of occupational psychology and psychiatry, and as a means of self-awareness and a social support system (Lafraxo et al., 2021).

In the context of the job demands-resources model, burnout occurs when demands exceed resources and continue over time. Burnout is not inevitable; actions can be taken to moderate the effects of stressors (Edú-Valsania et al., 2022), such as workload management. Appropriate time management and job crafting have reduced stress because employees have control over how their day unfolds. Additional support includes exercise, deep breathing, and relaxation techniques.

Organizational Commitment

Fatahun et al. (2023) defined organizational commitment as the degree to which employees are involved and identify with an organization. Job demands and resources significantly impact worker commitment. Job demands refer to the various aspects of a job that require effort from the worker. These demands include workload, task interruptions, organizational changes, and emotional demands (El Mouedden et al., 2022). When job demands exceed available resources, it can lead to unmet psychological needs of competence, relatedness, and autonomy, potentially resulting in lower levels of worker commitment (El Mouedden et al., 2022).

Job resources are factors within the work environment that can facilitate the successful completion of tasks and promote worker well-being (Ceryes et al., 2023). These resources can include social support, performance feedback, and autonomy. When job resources are present and accessible, they contribute to a positive working environment that enhances workers' well-being, satisfaction, and commitment (Liu et al., 2022).

Candel and Arnăutu (2021) claimed that while telecommuting became essential for adapting to the COVID-19 pandemic, its interplay with employees' personal characteristics and work outcomes has not been sufficiently studied. The researchers examined how telecommuting influences the connection between psychological entitlement and work-related elements: job satisfaction, counterproductive work behavior, and organizational citizenship behavior. Additionally, Candel and Arnăutu considered job satisfaction as a link between psychological entitlement, counterproductive work behavior, and organizational citizenship behavior. The researchers surveyed 253 employees, some working remotely and others at the job site (Candel & Arnăutu, 2023). The study delved more deeply into the consequences of telecommuting management implications, examining how remote work influenced the relationship between psychological entitlement and counterproductive work behavior, job satisfaction, and organizational citizenship behavior. Candel and Arnăutu found a negative correlation between psychological entitlement and job satisfaction for remote employees. Furthermore, they observed that job satisfaction mediated psychological satisfaction and counterproductive work behavior, but only among the telecommuting participants.

The COVID-19 pandemic has ushered in a new era of work dynamics. The transition to remote work has potentially intensified the overlap between professional and family responsibilities, adversely affecting the balance between work and family life and, thus, organizational commitment (Neo et al., 2022). Such an imbalance is particularly challenging for women, who often take on a more significant portion of household and

family responsibilities. Neo et al. (2022) used a sample of 754 employed married mothers in Singapore to explore their challenges during COVID-19 and how they affected their work-family balance. The researchers indicated that the COVID-19 situation raised work-family tension. Significant determinants of this conflict during the pandemic include dedication to their profession, the overwhelming demands of their job role, the pressures of parenthood, and the degree of family support. Neo et al. argued that factors from work are not the sole contributors to family interfering with work issues and lower organizational commitment. As the COVID-19 pandemic has been prolonged, combining family and work has become more common everywhere. Thus, policymakers should avoid the conventional perspective that work and family are individually distinct spheres. Instead, upcoming policies should include measures that cater to both aspects simultaneously.

Rumambi et al. (2022) used a quantitative approach to understand the dedication of civil servants to their public service organizations and how work culture can impact public service outcomes in sub-district Tomohon, Indonesia. Findings reveal a strong and positive correlation between organizational commitment and public service performance, emphasizing the importance of carefully selecting candidates with high organizational dedication. Using a merit-based system for hiring may help employees with solid corporate ties fulfill their roles and responsibilities effectively. Furthermore, Rumambi et al. demonstrated that organizational commitment and work culture significantly influence employee performance. These factors contribute to 53.50% of the variance in public service performance, while the remaining 46.50% can be linked to other factors. Thus,

the researchers illustrated how organizational commitment and work culture could shape the performance of civil servants at the sub-district level in Tomohon to align with their respective sub-districts' specific roles and functions.

Employee Engagement

Employee engagement practices keep employees motivated, increase organizational commitment and job satisfaction, and enable employees to connect meaningfully with the organization and its leadership, according to Anand and Acharya (2021). This engagement drives financial outcomes and organizational marketplace achievement. The core of employee engagement is the willingness of a worker to put in effort, perform well, and show loyalty to the company (Anand & Acharya, 2021). Giauque et al. (2022) used a job demands-resources framework when engaging 1,373 Swiss Cantonal federal public administration workers. The framework considered both pre-telework and telework stages, job-related factors, relationship factors, and organizational climate variables affecting employee engagement, fatigue, and performance. Results from the study indicated that although employees maintained consistent levels of engagement, they also gained increased job autonomy and work-life balance compared to when not working remotely. However, there was a decrease in collegial collaboration and a perception of increased job strain.

The researchers found that two essential resources—autonomy to organize one's work and coworker collaboration—improve employee engagement and perceived performance and reduce exhaustion. Giauque et al. (2022) found that forced telework moderately impacted employees' working circumstances. Mandatory telecommuting is

linked to more task autonomy, personal initiative, work-life balance, and judgment under mandatory telecommuting. As indicated by the participants, some areas of concern raised by the study are that required telework arrangements hinder collaboration with coworkers, team members, and supervisors. Participants also reported fewer activities and less work-related skill development. Increased employee engagement creates an opportunity for higher productivity levels and improved financial outcomes. In an integrative literature review, Chanana (2021) found that employers must be more intentional about employee engagement in this era of remote working.

Armed with this information, human resource managers have actively sought out ways to engage employees, such as online family engagement activity nights, webinars led by industry experts like TED Talks, virtual learning courses, skill development, brown bag lunches, and team meetings over video conferences, benefiting both businesses and employees (Chanana, 2021). Deep breathing, training workshops, pharmacotherapy, video conferences, and team building have also proven helpful (Babu & Balamurugan, 2022). Staff development initiatives help employees learn new skills and grow professionally (Chanana, 2021). By integrating these activities, employees become more committed to and motivated for the company.

Borst et al. (2019) sought to fill the gap in the JD-R model of work engagement literature by surveying the lesser-researched population of public administration professionals. The researchers conducted a detailed study examining the job and personal resources of 9,465 individuals. Borst et al. discovered a positive correlation between employee access to resources and public service motivation and the subsequent

enhancement of work engagement. When employees experience corporate policy, regulations, and rules ("red tape"), they become less creative and productive. Some even feel alienated. This red tape reduces engagement, and employees feel constrained by it. In the traditional JD-R model, all job characteristics are treated equally. Like other public administration-related studies, this study separates job characteristics into work-related and organizational-related resources.

Work-related resources include collegial teamwork, job autonomy, and recognition, while organizational-related resources entail opportunities to develop new skills, performance evaluation, and supervisor support (Borst et al., 2019). According to the Borst et al. study, public servants exhibit higher work engagement with job autonomy, colleague support, supervisory assistance, skill development opportunities, and performance evaluation. Engaging public administration employees possess personal resources and intrinsic motivation and are motivated by appropriate job resources that promote growth, learning, competence, relatedness, and development or assist in achieving work goals extrinsically. Organization-related employment resources such as performance evaluation and training enhance the likelihood of goal achievement.

Furthermore, cheerful public service-oriented employees with a positive attitude and expertise contribute to increased work engagement (Borst et al., 2019).

The researchers also found that work engagement mediates the relationship between public employees' jobs and personal resources, commitment, and turnover intention. Higher proactivity and public service motivation (PSM) reduce public servant turnover intention. Furthermore, external factors, not personality features, impact

employee commitment and turnover intention. However, personality and environment affect public servants' work engagement, which suggests that public servants' work engagement is a more profound cognitive state than commitment and turnover intention. Borst et al. (2019) also found that public employees perceived that rules and red tape do not lower their work engagement and organizational commitment nor increase turnover intention. This study encourages managers to increase employee engagement by prioritizing job autonomy, peer collaboration, and job content to improve engagement outcomes. Even during crises, business and organizational leaders must ensure that staff have the resources, supervision, and support to perform well (Lee & Jo, 2023).

Kyei-Frimpong et al. (2023) examined the role of supervisory support as the link between an employee's organizational commitment and their empowerment. Using a quantitative research design, the researchers surveyed 274 hotel workers over seven months. This population was crucial to study because they experience varying workloads due to seasonal demands, limited job growth and development, and unpredictable work schedules. The results of this study indicate that with more responsibility, employees show increased loyalty and commitment and benefit from empowerment (Kyei-Frimpong et al., 2023). These uncertain times have led businesses to strategize on maintaining marketplace competitiveness, safeguarding their employees' health and well-being, and ensuring business survival (Lee & Jo, 2023).

In moments of crisis, determining employees' mental well-being is imperative because there is a direct correlation between employees' mental health and performance. Studies have examined the relationship between job resources, employee engagement,

and mental health. Lee and Jo (2023) surveyed 1092 corporate employees to understand how job autonomy and personal mental health influenced role performance (the behaviors typically exhibited at work) and prosocial extra-role performance (behaviors benefiting the organization mediated by employee engagement). Like the study by Borst et al. (2019), Lee and Jo's (2023) analysis revealed that job autonomy and psychological well-being (personal resources) significantly impact job performance, particularly in terms of private initiative and pro-social conduct. The study findings further emphasize the importance of employee engagement as a psychological reinforcement for individuals facing rapid transformations in the work environment.

Remote and Alternative Work

Within the last ten years, there has been a dramatic change in the remote, telework, and alternative work landscape for both industry and government. Many federal government leaders did not readily embrace telework, even though they were fully authorized via the Telework Enhancement Act of 2010, signed into law by Barack Obama. This law was established to provide an official telework framework, define roles and responsibilities, increase work-life balance for employees, enhance recruitment of new employees, and retain those currently using telework while requiring OPM to create a website to explain telework and collect data for adequate reporting (U.S. Office of Personnel Management, Telework Enhancement Act, n.d.). Teleworking was not a new phenomenon to the federal government. For example, during Hurricane Irene, employees were required to report their location and work status, whether on leave or offsite (Brown, 2016). For the government, it seemed a more natural and justifiable option to use

telework during a crisis to ensure continuity without hindrance, as was the case during the worldwide health crisis of the COVID-19 outbreak.

As of March 3, 2020, the COVID-19 outbreak has resulted in more than 90,000 confirmed cases and over 2,946 deaths across 72 countries (Li et al., 2020). This situation presents a significant global threat to public health. The WHO declared a worldwide public health emergency due to the pandemic. The COVID-19 pandemic has tested, uncovered, and revealed the strengths and weaknesses of agencies, federal leadership, administrators, and the capacity of the agency's technology systems to continue supporting an appropriate working environment. Previously resistant supervisors were no longer able to prohibit alternative working locations. COVID-19 required employees, administrators, customers, and families to adjust to a fast-evolving home-work-life context, propelling business operations globally into the need to address alternative workplace options, rapid onsite COVID testing (Van der Scheer et al., 2022), new ways to engage in meetings, social distancing (Zito et al., 2021), technological personal and organizational issues (Zito et al., 2021), and the rearrangement of homes for use as alternative office space (Galanti et al., 2021). The government instituted mandatory vaccines and on-site workplace testing, closed businesses and schools, and asked people to quarantine at home (Meyer et al., 2021). Fear, panic, and uncertainty ensued. The threat of disease transmission from one person to another was severe; therefore, social isolation was at an all-time high. Family members could not visit sick and dying loved ones in hospitals, and many people felt isolated and frustrated (Meyer et al., 2021).

In many cases, new demands were placed on workers, forcing them to balance their available resources and demands, as well as the pandemic, work, societal isolation, and childcare needs. A longitudinal 3-month study by Meyer et al. (2021) surveyed 789 employees' psychological well-being across each monthly iteration concerning job demands, resources, and exhaustion. They divided the study into three sections: (a) identified issues of job insecurity, (b) personal and job-related resources such as job autonomy, and (c) personal partner or collegial supports and the division of privacy between what was happening at work and what was happening in a person's home. In both the Asplund (2022) and Meyer et al. (2021) studies, women exhibited more stress and adverse health outcomes than men depending on workload, personal and job demands like work-life balance and childcare, compared to the resources available to them. Men showed little fatigue or exhaustion related to the pandemic and work-from-home demands (Meyer et al., 2021).

The U.S. Government has provided many federal employees with workplace options. Alternative work locations include traditional office workplaces, telework, or remote work. In the proposed study, the definitions of telework, agency worksite, and remote work stem from the Federal OPM's perspective because the study's population will consist of federal remote workers and managers for whom telework is a formal arrangement. These terms allow an employee, under a written telework agreement, to carry out scheduled recurring work at an agency worksite (U.S. Office of Personnel Management, 2021). Remote work is a formal arrangement in which an employee conducts their regularly scheduled work at an agreed-upon alternative worksite outside

the agency's worksite within or outside the agency's commuting area (U.S. Office of Personnel Management, 2021). An agency worksite refers to the centralized Federal agency location where typical agency activities are routinely performed (U.S. Office of Personnel Management, 2021).

Over 70% of federal employees who responded to the Federal Employee Viewpoint Survey indicated their use of telework since the onset of COVID-19. However, there is a disparity among those who utilize the available telework options (Kim, 2023). The OPM has issued supplementary policy guidance to assist federal agencies in expanding remote work opportunities (U.S. Office of Personnel Management, 2021). Meanwhile, as OPM was establishing supplementary guidance, Congress was working to revert remote work back to the pre-COVID policy state through the Show-Up Act (Show-Up Act of 2023, 2023). In the Show-Up Act of 2023, agencies must revert to pre-pandemic telework policies, practices, and levels for executive agencies while providing an agency study that includes information on the real estate impact, dispersal of employees, relative locality pay and related costs, opportunities gained by expansion either financially or in human capital, as well as a plan to ensure that every teleworking employee has the requisite equipment to perform their work functions (Show-Up Act of 2023). These efforts to reset the pre-pandemic standard are supported by some Congressional members who believe that remotely working employees are underperforming and causing a reduction in customer service at several agency departments (Show-Up Act of 2023).

The U.S. Office for Personnel Management (2021) indicated that remote work is there to help agencies attract a highly skilled and talented workforce who may be within or outside the agency commuting area and recruit new employees while retaining current employees. There has even been evidence of cost savings from remote work for the agency in terms of reduction of real estate assets and other facility expenses.

Implementing measures to enhance employee job opportunities that cater to individuals with mobility-related or other qualifying disabilities has increased the appeal of such positions (U.S. Office of Personnel Management, 2021). Despite the potential advantages, organizations could consider and have experienced challenges implementing remote and alternative work environments and maintaining employee performance. One of the challenges in performance management is the need for supervisors to adapt their communication to ensure it is effective and ongoing (Doberstein & Charbonneau, 2022).

Managers must correspond with workers regarding work assignments and expectations in a concise manner to ensure the directions are understood (Doberstein & Charbonneau, 2022). In this era of equity, diversity, and inclusion, employees must feel included in the opportunity to telework. Kim (2023) analyzed the use of teleworking among federal employees and its correlation with demographics, leader support, and organizational backing. The study utilized data collected from U.S. federal employees during the COVID-19 pandemic. Post-pandemic, 71% of participants reported increased teleworking. Federal employees engaged in telework differently based on age, ethnicity, and gender both pre-pandemic and during the crisis. Effective leadership and organizational support mitigated gender-based telework disparities, although age and

ethnicity gaps persisted. The study by Kim suggested that organizations could develop management strategies that facilitate remote work for elderly, disabled, and minority employees. The research explored demographic factors that impede teleworking, emphasizing the importance of planning, consideration, and organization.

Hawthorn Effect

The observable difference in the behavior or performance of participants who actively know they are participating in an experimental research study is termed the Hawthorne Effect (Campbell et al.,1995). Fundamental principles of the Hawthorn Effect are that the person under investigation must feel the need to increase performance, know that they are under study, and have a feedback loop to record the changes that should be in place (Campbell et al.,1995). The Hawthorne effect was first observed in experiments conducted at Western Electric's Hawthorne Works between 1927 and 1933. Several female employees who were experts in wiring relays were selected from the general population and given a separate workspace and treatment; as a result, their output and productivity increased (Chiesa & Hobbs, 2008). Even after the researchers returned to the initial settings after repeatedly modifying the labor conditions during the experiment, output productivity increased (Campbell et al.,1995).

One follow-up question is whether there would have been an increase in productivity if participants were observed in their natural environment without being aware that they were being watched or if the change in climate or becoming aware of the observers was the catalyst for the subsequent unintentional shift in participant behavior (Chiesa & Hobbs, 2008). Referring to this original experiment, Nossaman and Nossaman

(2022) discussed observational bias, which occurs when caregivers or patients change their responses to the care itself when they are conscious of the conditions of the study; the modifications are referred to as the Hawthorn effect. Sedgwick (2012), for instance, examined how effective an integrated care program was for patients returning to work who had chronic pain in their lower back. This new program in an outpatient venue combined work and patient interventions. Sedgwick used a randomized trial design wherein the controls received regular care, and the trial patients received combined interventions. The researchers measured how long patients were away from work to when they returned to work fully. The second measure was pain intensity and function. Those patients receiving integrated care returned to work sooner than those in the control group, which Sedgwick attributed to the Hawthorn effect, in which the shortened absence came not only from the integrated care but also from the patients' awareness of being in such a study.

In a longitudinal study measuring the smoking habits of 6,000 11–12-year-old adolescents, the researchers found that over five years, there was a reduction in smoking compared to the non-study group of their peers (Murray et al., 1988). When the genders were measured, the girls were markedly lower. The boys in the original study group did not inhale while smoking as much as the comparative group (Murray et al., 1988). Some could attribute this result of a lower incidence of smoking to the Hawthorn effect due to the students' knowledge that they would be surveyed several times more. Other considerations, such as the effect of parental or teacher intervention, loss of interest in

smoking, and the lower participant response rates to the surveys over time, could also explain the differences (Murray et al., 1988).

If a researcher were to examine the Hawthorn Effect on underperforming contract specialists, the researcher could begin with a remote manager requiring contract specialists to show worker engagement and accountability by requesting workers to turn on Microsoft Teams and maintain their signal on the green, requiring workers to sign in and out via email, conducting random audits of contracts, while offering ongoing performance feedback to improve employee productivity. If the study results in a worker's performance decreasing based on the contract specialist believing that their performance was being monitored, then the changes could be attributed to the Hawthorn effect. A work performance increase grounded in the Hawthorn Effect would be indicated by measuring how many employees turn on their Microsoft Teams work light, already naturally indicate their sign-in and out via email, regularly attend scheduled meetings, and prepare their files for auditing before they know that they will eventually be monitored. Participants should then be retested after being told the monitoring has ended so researchers can ascertain change.

Transactional Leadership

The leadership style used by managers impacts the workers' productivity and organizational success. The transactional leadership style includes rewarding or punishing employees based on meeting organizational goals and quantifiable performance outcomes (Mendoza Solis et al., 2023). Transactional leadership has four characteristics: active management by exception, passive management, contingent

rewards, and laissez-faire (Abdelwahed et al., 2023). Transactional leadership is the connection between the leader and the employee, with organizational leaders striving to identify the needs and expectations of employees to comprehend the factors that motivate, activate, and propel them toward achieving the organization's objectives (Andriansyah et al., 2023).

Once those motivations are identified, the organization provides the employee with appropriate rewards when organizational goals and objectives are met. Within a transactional leadership culture, the leader demonstrates a continuous commitment to monitoring and evaluating corporate expectations of employees, their responses to the rewards provided, and achieving performance goals and objectives (Andriansyah et al., 2023). In a remote setting, it may or may not be more challenging to use the transactional style as the primary leadership style as efficiently as in the traditional work setting since it requires a regular exchange between the employer and employee. There is a significant gap in the literature regarding transactional leadership and remote work.

There are various leadership styles, yet the overall goal of each style is typically the same: to either increase compliance or offer directives to help a group perform a task with an intended outcome. Transformational leadership is often compared to transactional leadership style. Transactional leadership is based on task performance outcomes to achieve organizational success. In contrast, transformational leadership focuses more on uplifting the people who will subsequently meet the organizational outcomes (Abbas & Ali, 2023). Sinclair et al. (2021) emphasized the importance of promoting leadership excellence in real-time work and the current digital landscape, as the study's timeframe

began before the COVID-19 pandemic. A quality enhancement initiative was utilized to identify the needs of remote workers and understand their experience with distant leadership. Sinclair identified a necessity to improve communication between leaders and their team members. Leaders should understand tasks, engage teams in decision-making, and provide timely support.

A transformational leadership approach informed such change strategies, specifically conducting daily online briefings using virtual evaluations and meeting with employees monthly to boost managers' understanding of the workforce. This quality enhancement effort was already underway when the global pandemic emerged, and the newly remote workers felt even more isolated from colleagues and superiors. Thus, they provided positive feedback regarding the changes. They understood more in the present than in the past the importance of genuine human connection and leadership support as the teams tackled new challenges. The transformational leadership framework provided a supportive atmosphere and, thus, better relationships among team members, primarily due to the regular and consistent leadership outreach efforts.

Sinclair concluded that for leadership to be genuinely effective in remote work, maintaining communication and nurturing connections with employees is a top priority. When comparing transactional versus transformational leadership across 41 studies with the specific country of occurrence as moderators at the project level, Abbas and Ali (2023) found that those using the transformational style experienced tremendous project success due to the collective focus on the project success. Yet project-level variables such as size and type also played a moderating role between leadership style and project

success when the country of occurrence was also considered: the economic standing, collectivist cultures versus cultures that value individualism, and power distance (the distribution of power among country occupants) also played a role (Abbas & Ali, 2023).

One difference may be that transformational leaders effectively communicate the vision to their subordinates, embrace change, and encourage flexibility by inspiring workers to innovate, think differently, and create change in their enterprises, ultimately motivating them to do more. Therefore, this leadership style is expected to work well in sectors that value change and innovation for sustainability and growth, such as IT. As a result, transformational leadership is the more appropriate style for project managers. Baig et al. (2021) examined the impact of leadership styles of laissez-faire, transformational, and transactional leadership on employees' performance at a textile company. Data were collected from lower and upper management at the textile company. The results indicated that ineffective leadership techniques have hindered the textile industry's financial potential, leading to lower employee performance and productivity compared to other textile-producing nations and causing the industry's collapse. The study suggests that transformational and transactional leadership approaches can enhance textile worker performance in Pakistan. In their study, Baig et al. (2021) proposed that transformational leadership can boost employee performance.

Irrespective of leadership style, employee performance is paramount for organizational success. An effective supervisor, mindful of Key Performance Indicators such as being Informed, Involved, Interested, and Inspired, is more effective and can increase employee engagement (Mukherjee, 2023). These Key Performance Indicators

(KPIs) center around maintaining a high level of employee engagement. This involves creating a conducive work environment that nurtures a sense of purpose and significance in employee tasks. Motivated and engaged employees are more likely to surpass expectations in their contributions to the organization's achievements and are also more likely to stay with the organization for an extended period. To motivate employees, companies can establish a vision for the future, promote a strong atmosphere of teamwork and collaboration, and recognize and celebrate employees' significant contributions to the company's success (Mukherjee, 2023).

Ultimately, the Key Performance Indicator (KPI) of Keeping People Informed, Involved, Interested, and Inspired is a new method for evaluating the attainment of a company's goals and objectives. By prioritizing these four vital areas, companies can be more confident that their staff are actively motivated to achieve the company's success.

Transition Statement

This qualitative pragmatic inquiry explored the strategies remote managers at federal agencies use to improve the job performance of underperforming remote contract specialists. In Section 2 of this study, I presented the literature review covering several topics within the conceptual framework, such as burnout, absenteeism, the Hawthorn effect, and employee engagement. The literature indicates that employees are more engaged when they have the needed resources. Furthermore, leadership style matters, depending on whether the worker is intrinsically or extrinsically motivated. In the transactional style, leadership has to be purposeful in engaging an employee to determine how they would like to be rewarded or recognized for work performed to increase the

chance for contribution to organizational productivity. Supervisory support, collegial cohesion, and autonomy are job resources that workers value. In contrast, workload is a job demand that hampers worker engagement, especially when the worker lacks adequate supervisory support or training. Lastly, albeit potentially unexplored and outdated, the Hawthorne effect is still relevant for supervisors to understand whether employees are more productive when they perceive their work is being observed and productivity is analyzed, compared to when they are left to themselves to determine their own peak productivity periods.

Section 3: Research Project Methodology

Section 3 includes information on areas related to ethical research, the nature of the project, the population, sampling, participants, data collection activities, and interview questions. It also discusses data organization and analysis, reliability and validity, dependability, credibility, transferability, confirmability, and data saturation.

Project Ethics

The primary means for collecting data in qualitative studies is the researcher. Therefore, adhering to interview procedures and member checking is critical to avoid researcher bias and improve rigor, dependability, and research quality (Johnson et al., 2020). I had not had any prior interactions with the research participants. We perform the same job function, but I do not work with any of my participants. I obtained participants using both snowball and purposive sampling methods. I also do not supervise remote working contract specialists. The contract specialists I manage are in the office with me.

In compliance with federal regulations and Walden University ethical standards, students must take several steps to protect research participants (Walden University, 2019). Before conducting this study, I received approval from the Walden University Institutional Review Board (IRB; approval number is 02-02-24-0406692. My CITI certification is in Appendix C. To reduce risk and ensure the safety of every participant, the interviews were ethically conducted by following proper interview protocols and procedures, establishing an initial set of interview questions to ensure consistency among participants, obtaining participant consent, allowing participants to withdraw at will, and following confidentiality procedures (see Adashi et al., 2018).

The 1979 *Belmont Report* by the National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects in Biomedical and Behavioral Study provides rules to protect study participants. The *Belmont Report* guidelines include beneficence, which involves the ethical treatment of humans and risk minimization. Respect for humans also requires giving research participants the freedom to participate or withdraw after giving informed permission (U.S. Office for Human Research Protection [OHRP], 1979). The interview questions are in Appendix B. Once the participants were identified as eligible candidates and they agreed to participate, the consent form was digitally sent to inform them of the purpose of the study, the approximate length of time the interview would take, and the offer to answer any participant-related questions.

All seven participants responded with consent and scheduled within one week of receiving the requests for interview participation. Although participants were asked to sign the consent form and plan their participation, they were informed they could withdraw without consequence. The withdrawal process was simple; it could be initiated by writing "I withdraw" before the interview or verbally indicating their intent to withdraw when asked before the interview to affirm their consent or withdrawal. The participants were offered the chance to ask clarifying questions. Participants were compensated \$15 via an Amazon gift card for participation in the study. The participants' names and responses gathered from Zoom audio recording interviews and any publicly available documents related to my research will be maintained on a password-protected secure drive and destroyed five years after study completion. Finally, participant privacy

and confidentiality were ensured by assigning an alpha-numeric label to the transcribed recorded information and assigning codes P1 through P7.

Nature of the Project

This qualitative pragmatic inquiry research project aimed to explore the strategies used by remote contract managers to increase the performance of underperforming remote workers. Researchers use qualitative research methodology to understand an event from the participants' viewpoint as it naturally occurs and is experienced (Atmowardoyo, 2018). Qualitative researchers use open-ended interview questions to assess participants' thoughts, feelings, and knowledge (Leedy & Ormrod, 2019). The researcher interprets those experiences via inductive data analysis, focusing on the recurring themes and details of a problem experienced under natural conditions (Yin, 2018). In pragmatic inquiry, the general belief is that research should stem from a motivation to provide practical and implementable information, address fundamental problems, or resolve uncertain circumstances, which is achieved by studying effective patterns of behavior or ways of acting (Kelly & Cordeiro, 2020). I chose the pragmatic inquiry design for this study because underperformance is a fundamental problem to be explored, and the managers' strategies and effective patterns discovered could be applied throughout the government system.

Population, Sampling, and Participants

I interviewed seven supervisory contract specialists and general managers working remotely at federal agencies within the United States. They evaluate and conduct performance reviews of 1102 contracting specialists working remotely at federal

agencies. Semistructured, open-ended questions were used to identify the strategies to increase remote contract specialists' job performance.

Data Collection Activities

The primary instrument in qualitative study data collection is the researcher. To reduce researcher bias and increase rigor, reliability, and research quality, following the interview protocol and performing member checking is imperative (Johnson et al., 2020). I used semi-structured interviews with seven managers of federal agencies who work and manage remotely to enhance understanding of the strategies used to increase the performance of underperforming remote workers. Structured interviews, semi-structured interviews, unstructured interviews, document analysis, and focus groups are data collection methods the researcher can employ in qualitative data research (Busetto et al., 2020). The identifying characteristic of a structured interview is that there are a limited number of formalized questions to ask (Ruslin et al., 2022). The semistructured interview was selected because it includes the flexibility of asking additional follow-up probing member-checking questions in response to the participant's initial response (see Ruslin et al., 2022). At the onset of the interview, I introduced who I am and why this research is being conducted (see Appendix A).

The interview protocol (see Appendix B) was planned to ensure consistency; each participant received a similar introductory experience. The participants read the confidentiality statement and approved or declined interview consent. Participants were informed of how the results would be used and asked to answer the interview questions honestly (see Naz et al., 2022). All participants were asked the same interview questions

within the interview protocol (see Appendix B). In the interview process, I was the primary data collector; the information was audio recorded on the Zoom conferencing app and subsequently transcribed. Since Zoom automatically records a video feed when an audio recording is made, I deleted the video recording after the interview. I made an audio recording with my iPhone audio notebook application as a backup. Member checking and transcription review were performed as they are appropriate for use to ensure the validity and accuracy of the data interpretation to affirm that the interview was transcribed correctly and interpreted in a way that captures participants' thoughts, words, and feelings accurately (see Motulsky, 2021). McKim (2023) suggests that giving summaries of participants' comments is more practical, as going through a full transcript may prove cumbersome; therefore, my participants were provided summaries.

Interview Questions

- 1. What are the benefits of having employees performing well in their work-related roles?
- 2. How do you determine the level of employee performance?
- 3. How do you identify underperforming employees?
- 4. At what point do you address underperforming employees?
- 5. What strategies do you use to improve employee performance in a virtual environment?
- 6. How do the strategies used in a remote environment differ from those chosen in a non-remote environment?
- 7. How did you communicate these strategies to employees?

- 8. How did you implement these strategies?
- 9. What were your key challenges when implementing strategies to improve performance in a remote environment?
- 10. What strategies are the most effective for improving employee performance?
- 11. What strategies are the least effective for improving employee performance?
- 12. How do you evaluate the success of those strategies?
- 13. What else might you add to this discussion about strategies to improve the performance of employees in a remote environment?

Data Organization and Analysis Techniques

Data Organization Technique

Organizing data is an essential step in research. Effective data organization techniques can ensure secure and accurate data management (Dilger et al., 2018). Not taking this step can risk participant privacy if leaks occur. I filed the data electronically on a secure password-protected computer, where it will remain for five years. The transcripts and audio files are also in a password-protected location, as outlined in Pathiranage et al. (2020).

Data Analysis

I used semistructured, open-ended questions to interview the seven participants. I later analyzed the interview data using thematic analysis, as Yin (2018) described, including compiling, assembling, and disassembling information to ascertain the themes of the interviews with ATLAS. ti software. The transcribed interviews were analyzed, and approximately 29 themes were generated per participant. Fusch et al. (2018) stated

that information from observations, surveys, interviews, and documents is used for methodological triangulation. The transcription and coding of data are called data analysis (Maguire & Delahunt, 2017). According to Yin (2018), there are five steps in data analysis, which are (a) compile the database, (b) disassemble data, (c) reassemble data, (d) interpret data, and (e) conclude. To ensure replicability, I will describe the process and follow the steps offered by Yin as closely as possible.

Compile the Database

I analyzed the data collected during the semistructured interviews, which were captured via Zoom audio and transcribed by the system. I then uploaded the audio recording to the Microsoft Word transcription service to analyze it further for accuracy. Gathering data from interviews, organizational documents, and government documents is also a means of ensuring that information is collected at a level of depth, which is the triangulation of data (see Yin, 2018).

Disassemble Data

Once member checking occurred through the participants' review of documents, the transcripts were uploaded into ATLAS ti for analysis. The system then analyzed the data to organize, discern, and code the themes based on the research question. Three or more participants agreed to the 20 common themes and terms identified by ATLAS ti., I charted the top seven from each participant's standard theme list and placed them on an Excel spreadsheet under the participant's assigned number of P1 through P7. I then analyzed the participant transcriptions, identified quotes that explained the themes clearly, and located those unique in how the supervisor used strategy.

Reassemble Data

The identified theme words were color-coded and grouped to create overarching thematic categories. After establishing the themes, they were correlated with current literature and the conceptual framework. This coding and theming practice enhanced data reliability and validity (refer to Korstjens & Moser, 2018). To support the research, another Excel document was created containing the participant numbers and interview questions to capture significant participant quotes that best exemplify the commonly and uncommonly used themes by participants.

Interpret Data

The data was collected via semi-structured interviews and online documentation from the GAO and OPM. Current online literature was reviewed to ensure that the gathered data was complete and replicable by others. My primary focus as the researcher was on the themes and data from the interviews and literature to determine if the participant interview results were similar to or different from those outlined in federal personnel management supervisory documents. In qualitative data analysis, it is essential to find information related to the research question being answered (Yin, 2018). Several themes emerged throughout the interviews regarding the strategies that remote managers at federal agencies use to improve the job performance of underperforming remote contract specialists. Utilizing the strategy discovered during the participant interviews could enhance taxpayer customer service.

Conclusions

The principal goal of research is to answer the overarching research question and draw conclusions from the findings. The primary question in this study was: What strategies do remote managers at federal agencies use to increase the job performance of underperforming remote contract specialists? I collected information from the interviews, publicly available government documents, and literature for analysis to shape my findings. Altogether, this information was used to address the research question.

Reliability and Validity

The concepts of reliability and validity in qualitative research diverge from those in quantitative studies. Usually referred to as trustworthiness, Stahl and King (2020) described the difference by stating that the qualitative method is more process-oriented, storied, and intimately connected to human experience than quantitative research. Kniess and Walker-Donnelly (2022) warned against limiting research to quantitative or "surface-level qualitative data" (p. 159). Although there is much to learn from hearing another's narrative, how trustworthy the report is depends upon the person offering the information. Further, trustworthiness applies to the idea that the data are reliable, and conclusions obtained from the findings are robust; research interpretations of the findings are closely aligned with the intended meanings conveyed in the original data (Janis, 2022).

Maximizing rigor in a qualitative study is crucial to increase generalizability. Rigor and generalizability can be achieved through thick data collection and analysis descriptions, an audit trail, and triangulation of data sources or investigators (Hays & McKibben, 2021).

Dependability

Dependability is the qualitative form of reliability, representing the extent to which another researcher could replicate the study's findings (Janis, 2022). Improving dependability can be achieved through an audit trail that includes documenting the data analysis process and acknowledging any potential biases. By sharing aspects of the study such as raw data, data analysis software, data organization, and field notes, researchers enable readers to better understand and assess the research process, thereby enhancing the dependability of the study (Janis, 2022). I maintained an audit trail detailing the data collection, analysis, and organization procedures. Dependability then transitions into the first facet of validity: credibility. Dependability and credibility are closely linked (Ahmed, 2024).

Credibility

Credibility ensures that the research addresses the findings from the participant's point of view (Johnson et al., 2020). The interviews were audio recorded on the Zoom platform to increase study credibility, thus allowing simultaneous audio recording and direct transcription. To help triangulate the data and transcription, the audio source available on Zoom provided a downloadable recording and transcript that could be verified with one another. A Word document was then opened to the transcription button on the Home page, and the downloaded Zoom audio was uploaded for a second transcription verification, after which another transcript was produced. All participants were allowed to review the transcripts. Johnson et al. (2020) indicate that member checking should be performed, and the participants can read the transcripts. The study

participants were asked to confirm how accurate and complete the transcripts were and if the written documents genuinely reflected the intent and meaning of what they contributed to the study as procedurally indicated. If any changes were required, they were made, and the transcript was sent to the participants for further verification.

Transferability

Transferability is determined by future researchers rather than the present one. However, the goal of the present researcher is to communicate to these researchers partly by describing the sampling process clearly, including where the study was located, descriptions, limitations, and how long it took to collect and analyze the data (Nassaji, 2020)—revealing the research setting, essential participant characteristics and research framework to enable other researchers to do the same (Essa et al., 2019). To enhance the transferability for future researchers, I enlisted seven supervisory contract specialists and branch managers responsible for evaluating the performance of 1102 federal contract specialists. Both supervisors and employees operate remotely from various locations across the U.S. Supervisors boast over seven years of supervisory experience and a decade of contracting experience, overseeing an average of 8 employees each. I conducted the interviews via Zoom with the camera switched off following IRB protocol guidelines. The interviews lasted between 45 minutes to an hour. One notable limitation arose from time zone disparities and scheduling constraints. The interview process spanned approximately two weeks, with an additional week allocated for transcription and download. Member verification was conducted over a three-day period after participants received the transcripts.

Although I cannot guarantee the transferability of my findings, I meticulously followed scholarly techniques for interview protocol, observations, data collection and analysis, and audit trail to record each step of the process carefully. This approach may enhance transferability for future researchers, as suggested by Nassaji (2020).

Confirmability

One way to enhance confirmability is by asking probing questions during the interview and formulating questions from different points of view (Ahmed, 2024). I formulated 13 questions. During the interview, when participants' answers were insufficiently detailed to obtain rich data, follow-up and clarifying questions were asked. Findings must be presented without bias, fairly and accurately from the beginning to the end of the process (Ahmed, 2024), which I can do using bracketing and member checking (McKim, 2023) to make sure the participants confirm the findings were interpreted accurately. Johnson (2020) claimed that persistent observation of the targeted sample is essential to the confirmability standard and attaining data saturation.

Data Saturation

Data saturation is achieved when collecting and analyzing data but fails to yield new results that impact the study (Alam, 2021). Mohr and Metcalf (2018) defined data saturation as when research participants cannot offer more data. Qualitative researchers frequently gather sufficient data to achieve saturation (Gill, 2020). Data saturation is the point in a research investigation where no additional information can be obtained from interviews and observations. I analyzed the semi-structured interview responses throughout the conversation to determine data saturation. This analysis sometimes

generated further questions about the research subject contingent on participants' disclosure of critical themes and practices. Member checking was also performed. Qualitative researchers frequently ensure data saturation to substantiate the chosen sample size (Gill, 2020). For this study, participants had to be competent and willing to discuss their experiences related to the research issue. Qualitative research sample sizes are chosen to fit the phenomenon being examined (Vasileiou et al., 2018). The purposive and snowball sample enabled enough participants to reach data saturation.

I ran every transcript through the ATLAS ti system to ensure data saturation. The ATLAS ti system message on the fifth participant popped up, stating that no new theme codes were available. I re-ran the transcript twice and received the same message. I then interviewed two additional participants and processed their transcripts. Participants five through seven did not yield any new discernible theme codes. Even though data saturation was achieved after Participant Four, I interviewed all willing participants.

Transition and Summary

Section 3 includes an overview of ethical considerations, the nature of the project, a population description, sampling, and participation requirements. Data collection activities include data analysis and interview questions. The research's reliability and validity cover aspects like dependability, credibility, transferability, confirmability, and data saturation. I used methodological triangulation through semi-structured interviews, member checking, and a review of government documents to enhance the reliability and validity of the findings. Section 4 will start with a preliminary overview and present the research findings, analysis, and impact on business and social change statements. This

study will conclude with recommendations for action, suggestions for future research, reflections on my experience within the DBA doctoral study process, and the study conclusion.

Section 4: Findings and Conclusions

Introduction

This qualitative pragmatic inquiry explored the strategies remote managers at federal agencies use to improve the job performance of underperforming remote contract specialists. The data was collected through one-on-one semistructured interviews with seven participants and analyzed using ATLAS.ti. Participants were labeled as P1, P2, P3, P4, P5, P6, and P7. Each participant was asked the same 13 questions. Transcribed Zoom audio recordings, Microsoft Word, ATLAS ti, and Microsoft Excel were used to organize and identify themes following Yin's method of data analysis: compiling the database, disassembling data, reassembling data, interpreting data, and concluding. Four themes emerged from the data analysis: communication, workload, performance management, and collegial cohesion. I compared the findings to existing literature and the conceptual framework.

Presentation of the Findings

The overarching research question was: What strategies do remote managers at federal agencies use to increase the job performance of underperforming remote contract specialists? I conducted interviews with seven supervisors and managers of 1102 series federal contract specialists who all work remotely across various federal government agencies and have had to employ strategies to increase employee performance in a highly skilled career field experiencing a shortage of employees needed for the performance of nationally impactful work. The study participants' positions include division director, branch manager, contracting officer, and supervisory contracting specialist. The average

number of years in their supervisory positions is 2.5, with an average contracting period of 11 years. The average number of employees managed was seven.

Employees Performance

To retain highly qualified employees in the competitive business market, companies must prioritize their employees' training, development, and retention (Brown et al., 2018). Employee performance is crucial to attaining organizational objectives. Highly productive and efficient employees enhance a company's production and the quality of products or services it can offer. They also increase customer and employee satisfaction and establish a positive reputation for the organization (Triansyah, 2023). Performance can be defined as the organization and employee agreeing on excellent performance, clear standards to show how performance will be measured, and established expectations (Brown et al., 2018).

Benefits of Employees Performing Well

Study participants were also asked about the benefits of employees performing well. P7 responded:

Ultimately, the benefits of the 1102 career field are mission success, right? If our contract specialists, COs (contracting officers), and employees are not performing adequately or efficiently, it can cause severe mission failure, work stoppages, and service lapses.

P7 expounded on other results that could arise from 1102's performance, such as the reduction of "contractors getting over on the government, government waste, funding

issues, i.e., anti-deficient contracts. Employees are crucial to mission success and ensuring we can catch cost overruns and award contracts on time." P5 shared:

The significant benefit is increased project completion efficiency and customer service. Employees feel better about their jobs and have a better overall culture and workplace. P5 further stated that my job is easier with a high-performing team; it makes my day awesome. Employees who are happy and perform well tend to say it reduces team conflict, increases cohesiveness, and rewards people more often.

P6 shared, "The benefit of having employees perform well is providing good customer service. We have customers who come to us with requirements, and they often have very urgent needs." P6 then presented the impact statement:

Well-trained 1102s who understand the Federal Acquisition Regulation, agency regulations and policies accompanying the specific requirement can be executed on time, perform a good cost analysis, and award cost-effectively. Furthermore, It also serves the agency and our customers well. We were supposed to be stewards of the taxpayer dollars. So ultimately, it helps our taxpayers.

Identifying Strategies to Improve Performance

I asked the research question: What strategies do remote managers at federal agencies use to increase the job performance of underperforming remote contract specialists? The participants identified the following methods for re-engaging the employee that they have found helpful: communication, workload, performance

management, and collegial cohesion. Table 2 illustrates the themes related to the conceptual framework.

Table 2Overarching Themes Related to Conceptual Framework

Themes	Job Demands	Job Resources
Communication	Non-communication from the Specialist	coaching, mentoring, feedback, one-on-ones
Workload	Beyond employee knowledge level, mundane, requires challenge, customers	Training, time management, trackers
Performance Management	Evaluation, reviews,	clear expectations, DPMAP (standard performance rating system)
Collegiate Cohesion and Supervisory Support	Inconvenient meeting times Power dynamics Performance Improvement Plans	on time training, feedback, coaching, local gatherings, brown bags,

Theme 1: Communication

According to the online materials from the OPM, effective performance management relies heavily on communication. Communication is both a fundamental management component and a skill. Effective communication is essential for conveying objectives, accomplishing tasks, and acknowledging employee accomplishments (Communication Skills, n.d-c.). Communication is the exchange of information by verbal and non-verbal methods (Hemamalini & Jyothi, 2024). OPM has issued guidelines for managers who need to communicate with employees as they address performance issues. The four guidelines are: (a) Establish a productive rapport with employees, (b) ensure

that information and feedback are readily available, (c) encourage employees to participate in the development and planning of activities, and(d) recognize and commend high-performing individuals (Communication Skills, n.d.-c).

Basic conversation skills are essential for quickly conveying information and building better connections with others (Hemamalini & Jyothi, 2024). P6 emphasized the importance of communication in remote settings, highlighting that a lack of communication can lead to feelings of isolation. It's crucial to communicate regularly. Similarly, P2 likened non-communication to allowing someone to be on an island, emphasizing the need for support and connection. P2 emphasizes the significance of supervisors engaging with employees and genuinely caring for their well-being. Trust is also foundational for establishing relationships, with open communication channels being key to staying connected with employees, especially those who may not have been recently engaged.

Email Correspondence

Email is one of the most common forms of communication in a remote environment. It can serve as a resource when organizational, one-to-one correspondence is required and even be used to address underperformance when necessary. For example, P6 uses multiple communication methods as a strategy to enhance accountability, identify areas of struggle for workers, and improve performance:

I communicate through Teams, emails, and phone calls. I require employees to email me daily when they log on, list what they will be doing and what they have accomplished and let me know if improvement strategies are working. When I'm

not seeing much production, it might be because they're struggling and may be afraid to speak up.

The use of email can also create job demands for employees. The sheer number of emails causes workflow interruptions, increasing job dissatisfaction, stress, time pressures, and work overload (Wijngaards et al., 2024). To address the interruptions caused by emails at work, scholars have investigated the effectiveness of email batching, which means that employees are processing emails at designated times. In examining whether the work interruptions and employee exhaustion could be reduced, Wijngaards et al. (2024) conducted a quasi-experimental study in a Dutch financial services organization to discern under what circumstances email batching would be most effective where the employees in the intervention group encountered fewer email interruptions than participants in the control group. Study results show that emotional exhaustion was reduced through the initial activity of email batching but leveled off to no difference as time passed in work engagement. P3 and P2 both had comments regarding emails. P3 indicated that the use of email is essential, but there are issues with its use:

I have noticed that when we send emails, we must remember that words have meanings. When my staff sends an email that goes to leadership, sometimes it can become an issue for discussion. Although I think employees should have autonomy to send messages, they must stay professional. So, when it's too much to explain, call.

P2 agreed with this sentiment, "Communication, communication, communication. I can't emphasize that enough. The number one thing is asking for help. Pick up the phone and call versus continuing down that path with email trails that get longer and longer."

Feedback

The government promotes providing ongoing feedback and coaching to its managers. The manager is expected to meet with the employee at least once every three months to facilitate discussions about performance and development (Communication Skills, n.d.-c). During feedback meetings, it is important to ask open-ended questions and provide a wide range of observations, performance data, and information to encourage, inspire, or recommend changes (Communication Skills, n.d.-c). One of the recommendations provided by the government is to ask open-ended inquiries.

Performance feedback focuses on recipients' behavior and achievements, such as their ability to complete tasks and achieve goals, unlike other forms of managerial feedback, like reporting productivity percentages (Gnepp et al., 2020).

Some have considered eliminating annual performance reviews; however, doing so would necessitate more frequent but less formal performance feedback meetings in addition to the yearly and midterm reviews (Gnepp et al., 2020). Feedback is a crucial activity, albeit regarding employee performance or the contract procurement package received or contract actions performed by the contract specialist. P5 further explained that detailed correction information is essential when providing feedback regarding a solicitation or procurement package. "I don't just say correct the grammar; I say on page one, paragraph six, you have several misspellings and incorrect dates. Please revise, state

whether you addressed the corrections, and highlight your answer in yellow." Timely feedback and clear performance expectations communicated by leadership to employees increase employee job performance (Gnepp et al., 2020), yet facilitating feedback sessions can be complex, and participants are not always willing to accept feedback. According to P7, "They must want feedback. Suppose someone is not open to feedback or criticism. Then, you will have a combative person who may disagree with the change or corrective action." Many times, the responsibility of communication falls on the supervisor. Still, there is potential that things would work more smoothly in the workplace if contract specialists also took an active role in voicing their opinions.

P1 shared," It is simply not about the workload difficulties they face with a contract action; it is about empowering them to share their insights and concerns and ensuring they understand the organization's mission." In contrast, supervisors are not the only ones who have performance expectations. Sometimes, employees express the need for supervisors to communicate information regarding the organization. For instance, P1 said:

I tend to flow, but it depends on the person. Some people want details and organization. One person kept asking me what my vision was, and I didn't have one. I wanted to respond, "The vision is for you to do the work, and I will help you improve things.

The indication after the response was that the worker could not perform the work well if they did not understand the strategic mission and vision of the organization, followed by the supervisor's goals for the team. The employee's voice is crucial in the

communication process. OPM indicates that employees should take an active role in their evaluation by actively monitoring their performance while assuming accountability for their learning and growth. In contrast, managers should include employees in the performance assessment and planning dialog during these continuous planning and development meetings (Communication skills, n, d-c).

Theme 2: Workload & Workload Management

When participants were asked how they determine the level of employee performance, all participants mentioned specialized software data outputs, Excel spreadsheets, personal methods, or SharePoint trackers, and communication as key to workload management. P2 stated that regarding workload, "I hold weekly meetings with underperforming individuals who have known issues. We review workloads, identify issues, and track progress on a weekly basis during these calls, which proves to be highly beneficial in the virtual environment." P3 responded, 'Work that is satisfactory or unsatisfactory is identified through workload reports, necessary leadership updates, and attending meetings.' Whether through meetings or software usage, communication regarding workload remains crucial. P5 noted that even in discussions, there can be a loss in translation; hence, an alternative strategy is proposed for workload management. "Employees often nod in agreement during conversations, hoping to retain the information, but for noticeable performance enhancements, documenting the details becomes essential,' P5 elaborated while emphasizing the necessity of proper documentation during quality reviews of specialists' contract files.

Instead of embedding comments via track changes in a document, I create a spreadsheet with a column for the page number, another column for the text needing to be changed, and one that references the policy. The final column asks whether the changes were made, whether the employee accepted or rejected the change, and the date of correction, as this increases the likelihood that the employee will make the change.

P5 indicated, "Even if you don't want to create a spreadsheet with all the columns, make a list where the employee must respond if they agreed, accepted, or made the changes. This process helps the reviewer communicate expectations to employees."

These techniques and tools for workload management are quite universal.

A workload is the number of tasks and activities an employee must complete within a specific time, according to their job description (Nasrul et al., 2023). Both workload and work stress are classified as job demands. P7 shares the following:

I look at some things, such as employees' capabilities, and then at myself to see if I might have overloaded the employee. I will then adjust a couple of things. For instance, if I have given an employee five actions, but they can only handle three, maybe I have overburdened them; they can't work on it, or perhaps they lack the knowledge base. A conversation must be initiated once I reduce the workload and reassess the employees and requirements, and they still aren't performing.

Like P7, P2 states that workload is assigned based on complexity and the skills and knowledge set of the 1102. Follow-up meetings are scheduled to assess progress.

Despite being virtual, P2 maintains an open-door policy, allowing employees to ask

questions. Work status assessment commences with the spreadsheet-based workload tracker. If the tracker indicates no progress, P2 initiates inquiries, assigns a mentor, and utilizes templates for support.

P3 offers another perspective; perhaps the employee is not meeting metrics due to boredom or being issued the same or similar task repeatedly and wants a challenge.:

Sometimes, employees seek more diverse challenges at work. For instance, one of my team members was assigned a specific task, limiting their exposure to various responsibilities. This scenario often occurs with mid-level managers like me and past leaders I have worked with. When an employee excels in a certain skill, the usual practice is to assign all tasks in that area, following the saying,

P3 says, "The benefit of employees performing well is being rewarded and recognized. Contracting specialists can prioritize projects and better manage their workload, work, and leave days."

Theme 3: Performance Management

Once the employee receives a workload, performance management occurs by assessing how well the employee performs the assigned tasks. Performance management aims to identify, evaluate, and enhance individual and team performance, ensuring alignment with business goals and enhancing overall organizational performance (Brown et al., 2018). This process takes place between the employee and the supervisor. The supervisor oversees the employee's performance, and employees must effectively manage the execution of mission requirements from receipt through contract award.

Employee evaluations are based on their ability to meet requirements and factors like teamwork, communication, and business acumen.

According to Yoon (2021), just as people struggle to establish a method for self-evaluation, organizations and their employees also have challenges in creating a flawless system for assessing the performance of their staff. Difficulties in evaluating performance may be expected in some corporations, but the federal government has outlined how employee performance management is conducted by its supervisors. The steps include planning, monitoring, developing, rating, and rewarding the employee (Office of Personnel Management. Performance Management Cycle, n.d). The participants shared the methods they used to perform these steps. First, planning is defined as setting performance expectations and goals for groups and individuals to help achieve organizational goals. Planning also includes the criteria for evaluating expectations and goals.

Employee participation in planning improves their understanding of the company's goals, tasks, rationale, and performance expectations (Office of Personnel Management, Planning, n.d.). P6 illustrates the process succinctly by stating the following:

The level of employee performance, the metric, and the standard are predetermined. The managerial staff works with HR to determine the position description, performance standards, and expectations. The employees are then measured against that. Once metrics are in place, the employees are given a beginning-of-the-year review, a midterm review to check in and ensure

everything is on track, and an end-of-the-year performance evaluation. During the end-of-the-year review, we inform them about their performance, areas for improvement, and outstanding achievements. Success can be assessed through the workload tracker and feedback from customer service survey responses received via the link at the bottom of our email.

Monitoring is the second step in the government performance management process. Management involves regularly reviewing performance and providing feedback to employees and work groups on their progress in achieving objectives. Continuous monitoring allows assessing employee performance and promptly resolving difficulties (Office of Personnel Management, n.d.). P6 refers to the workload tracker and customer service surveys as means of monitoring. P6 states:

When the customers are not calling and complaining, the metric of 75% completed PALT times is being met, and closeouts are being performed at a certain percentage; this creates the belief that the contract specialist is successful. When packages are not made actionable and specialists are not hitting metrics, the specialist may need more training or coaching to increase their performance.

P7 indicates his method of approach, saying:

I don't step in to give instructions. I don't step in pointing fingers or giving blame. I step in with respect and say, "Hey, OK, what's going on here?" I noticed that this is taking a little bit longer. Are you having any issues with the customers? What's happening? You never want to go in and make it seem like you're just pointing fingers at the employee. Ultimately, you know, I handle it

from a mentoring perspective. Figure out what the problem is. I ask the employees for their ideas on how to resolve this problem. The next step in the strategy is to resolve the issue or inform them if they're going down the wrong track.

The third step in the structure for employee performance management is development. Development involves improving performance through training, assigning duties that require new skills or more responsibility, enhancing work processes, or utilizing other methods (U.S. Office of Personnel Management, n.d.). P5 states, "Turning on your camera and asking the employee to do the same allows us to collaboratively review documents or emails that require joint assessment." P4 emphasizes the value of dedicating time to working with individuals rather than simply reviewing and returning work with fix-it instructions. P5 recommends screen sharing for virtual teams working with employees facing challenges and needing support. P5 further suggests that in a virtual setting, employees are encouraged to:

Walk me through the process, walk me through your work, but also walk me through your rationale as to why you're doing this. I need to know this so that I can better understand what the individual is doing because what they're doing may not necessarily be wrong; it just maybe that I'm not used to the process they are using. This information allows me to assist, aids me in helping as a supervisor, and is a learning opportunity to gain a different perspective on how to get the same job done.

P1 takes a slightly different approach wherein the questions focus on supervisory internal evaluation and then questioning the employee as to their needs and the appropriate approach that should be used to address those needs. P1 states:

First, I will think you're not improving, and I'm trying to help. What am I doing wrong? What do I need to change to try to get this across? Do I need to get someone else involved? Do I need to change my communication strategy? Change my words, and I'll ask them whether I am getting the point across. Is there something I'm doing that isn't helping you? Do you need something more from me?

Following the steps of planning, monitoring, and developing comes rating. Rating pertains to evaluating an individual employee or a group's performance according to the characteristics and standards specified in their performance plan. This assessment entails condensing the performance and bestowing an authoritative rating (Office of Personnel Management Performance Management Cycle. Rating, n.d). The rating process is described through the actions taken by P5 when evaluating employees throughout the year. P5 says,

I have my metrics in place, and the employees receive a review at the beginning of the year. They also receive a midterm review so we can check in to ensure we meet all our metrics. We then conduct a final end-of-year performance evaluation where we inform them about their performance, areas for improvement, and areas where they excelled based on workload output. We also share their customer

service surveys by including a link at the bottom of our email, allowing customers to provide feedback on our performance.

Finally, at the end of the process comes the period of rewards. This involves delivering incentives and acknowledging employees' performance and efforts, both individually and collectively, to support the agency's goals. Recognizing good performance can range from expressing genuine gratitude for work completed to providing the most coveted organization-specific awards and implementing official monetary incentives and recognition award programs (Office of Personnel Management Performance Management Cycle. Rewarding, n.d). P3 and P4 both agree that rewards come in the form of formal recognition, time off, and monetary awards. Other opportunities such as leadership courses and special assignments are also available for those who perform well. In conclusion, P4 encapsulates the findings perfectly with the statement:

I will always focus on communication and knowing if an individual has the tools to succeed. The only way to determine if an individual is underperforming is by providing them with all the necessary tools for success. However, if they still fail to meet expectations, we as supervisors, managers, and leaders must focus on that individual because everyone learns differently. It is our responsibility to assess whether we have adequately prepared that individual for success and, if not, to identify what they need to succeed.

The goal is to have a well-performing cadre of employees. Although all employees receive some training and development, some catch up quickly while others

need additional support between rating periods. Some do well during their work tenure, whereas others run into difficulties.

Theme 4: Collegial Cohesion and Supervisory Support

Workplace social support encompasses two distinct forms of help: collegial support and supervisory support. Collegial social support includes the level of social and emotional integration and trust among colleagues and the help provided by colleagues with work duties (Kiema-Junes et al., 2020). Supervisory support includes emotional, informational, instrumental, appraisal, and sponsorship support. Emotional support involves showing concern and trust, while informational support involves sharing information and career guidance (Kang & Kaur, 2021). Instrumental support includes sharing resources and assigning challenging tasks. Appraisal support entails giving constructive feedback and acknowledging employees' skills. Sponsorships enhance employees' capabilities and improve their career progression and professional satisfaction (Kang & Kaur, 2021). The participants seem to engage most in the informational role of supervisory support.

P7 meets with their team every Tuesday afternoon, hosting brown bag sessions with the interns. Each intern is asked to pick a topic to research and discuss with the supervisor and colleagues. P7 then gives real-life experiences as an illustration of the discussion topic. Some sessions include guest speakers, virtual room gaming in jeopardy style, or discussing family and other personal and professional matters. P6 also hosts a weekly brown bag but is considering adding interactive games and physical meetups to encourage an environment that fosters collaboration because it is crucial for the team's

performance. To build cooperation and camaraderie, P5 hosts a team meetup called "Snack Break." During the snack break, the members bring the day's snacks, such as popcorn and soda, to the virtual room. P5 says,

With our snacks in place and cameras turned on, the snack break is a non-formal collaborative conversation about a topic but no agenda. This format gives people the opportunity to discuss what concerns them. These conversations may trigger something that causes others to say, "I would like to know how to do that, "or "Oh, I had to do this on my project; I can help you with that." You never know what you would get out of those snack breaks. The sessions were only 30 minutes long but had to be approved by management because they occurred during work hours, even though we ate a snack and talked about work-related stuff to help improve our process.

P2 states," Weekly meetings are held, and I'm open to suggestions from my team. We collaborate, and I encourage everyone to share lessons learned and good news stories about accomplishments. Our email distribution for our team seems great." P4 offers inperson interactive opportunities to build camaraderie with the team and shares the methodology:

We will get together, do an activity, and have lunch, and we won't focus on work. I have nine people on my team. And, of course, there are always two or so people who cannot participate based on the location of the activity. To mitigate that, I rotate locations, and for those who still cannot attend, I send them a gift card so that I can take care of their lunch so they're not left out.

When performing remote work, support from a worker's personal team and interaction with colleagues and supervisors can increase overall worker engagement. The Kiema-Junes et al. (2020) study indicates that workplace social contact and support may boost work engagement because of the additional support and resources. In Kiema-Junes et al., the Northern Finland birth cohort of 46-year-old women, the researchers evaluated how social support from a colleague or supervisor and a spouse, family, or friend affects professional engagement (vigor, devotion, and absorption). Study results indicate that supervisory and collegial support were linked to work engagement similarly. The study pioneered the finding that supervisory and collegial support affect work engagement similarly. Supervisor support has been linked to higher job satisfaction, emotional commitment, and lower job turnover. Supervisory assistance is essential for work-life balance and workplace well-being. Peer and collegial support boost employee engagement. Previous research has shown that peer and colleague support affects employees' work attitudes. Clear and effective communication is essential for maintaining positive relationships and promoting a successful team dynamic. Team members have diverse backgrounds and perspectives, coming from various walks of life.

For team members to collaborate effectively and foster efficiency and adaptability, employees and supervisors must trust and understand one another's roles and responsibilities (U.S. Office of Personnel Management, 1997). Both supervisory and collegial support was applied when P3 shared during a Thursday huddle that one of the workers had a ton of work requirements and was behind in required training. P3 indicated to the team that the member was already working later hours and that a similar request

would be made if any other member was in this situation. Members with bandwidth offered to assist, and the work was accomplished very quickly. P3 was pleased and pleasantly surprised that the team volunteered and was so supportive. Finally, P4 provides instrumental support to the 1102 employees when monthly one-on-one sessions are used to discuss employee projects. P4 states:

We talk about their goals so I know, throughout the year, what I need to do to ensure that I'm helping to accommodate their needs. I've learned that if I work with my team to help accommodate their needs and push them forward, whether it be something they need to do personally or professionally. I support them in those areas, and their productivity rises

Correlation to the Literature and Conceptual Framework

As a reiteration, the job demands job resources theory is the conceptual framework guiding this study. Job resources are the physical, psychological, social, or organizational supports that assist individuals in reducing stress, burnout, and other negative aspects of the job arising from the job demands. These resources include social support, autonomy in decision-making and job performance, feedback, communication and recognition, growth and development opportunities, and time and equipment to complete tasks (Edney et al., 2018). Job demands require increased exertion, reducing employees' physical, emotional, and cognitive capacities (Li et al., 2022). Job demands include increased workload, time pressure, role ambiguity, and poor social relationships. The participants highlighted workload and social relationships as two overarching themes regarding improving employee performance.

Theme one points out communication and feedback as job resources in JDR. Clear communication and feedback are tools used in successful organizations, essential to providing employees with the necessary information to meet job requirements and demands (Zito et al., 2021). Similarly to what government literature informs, research has indicated that internal communication is vital in fostering engagement. In a multiple case study designed to explore the communication strategies that four retail industry business managers used to improve employee motivation, Obi (2018) found that effective communication and information exchange are crucial in influencing employee motivation and increased performance. Dhanesh & Picherit-Duthler (2021), using the relationship between management theory and JDR, indicate in their study of 304 employees who worked remotely during the pandemic that two-way communication and internal crisis communication content predicted employee engagement. Furthermore, when an organization provides employees with adequate communication resources, it can enhance employee well-being outcomes, such as positive employee engagement (Dhanesh & Picherit-Duthler, 2021).

Through social exchange theory and JDR, Eva et al. (2019) examined how supervisors' and coworkers' feedback affects employee innovation and work engagement and how psychological contract breach may mediate supervisor appraisal and employee innovation. In this study, 300 Chinese workers and 64 supervisors were surveyed. Eva et al. (2019) found that supervisory feedback indirectly affects innovation and that coworkers' input can enhance supervisory feedback. Frequent feedback from multiple sources should be provided to employees as it increases employee engagement and

proves that the organization is committed to employee psychological well-being. Workload and performance management are resources and demands. In the Wang et al. (2021) study, a mixed method was used to explore work characteristics and individual worker personality differences to understand what challenges came with remote working during the pandemic and how the individuals coped with them. For the qualitative portion of the study, a semistructured interview format was used to identify four challenges and four virtual work characteristics. The challenges identified were work-home interference, ineffective communication, procrastination, and loneliness. The virtual work characteristics were social support, job autonomy, monitoring, and workload. The quantitative portion surveyed 522 participants from various industries like engineering, teaching, editing, and manufacturing who had no experience working remotely before COVID-19. The participants were asked about work characteristics and task performance, self-discipline, work challenges, loneliness, and procrastination. The quantitative portion of the study concluded that this study's findings align with current literature on worker performance, well-being, and effectiveness, which can be improved based on the characteristics of the job. Supporting job resources is collegial support and job autonomy. Some worker demands include uneven distribution of workload, monitoring of an individual's personal home life, and procrastination.

Vander et al. (2020) examined social support in their study of eight hundred seventy-eight international telecommunication employees who frequently telework to understand whether a relationship exists between the number of weekdays an employee teleworks and their level of engagement, mental stress-related complaints and

engagement indicative of personal well-being. The researchers found that the job characteristics of social support, participation in decision-making, task autonomy, and work-family conflict, but not the number of teleworking days, were directly associated with work-related well-being. Employees teleworking more days a week reported less social support from their colleagues, which is associated with higher stress levels, exhaustion, and reduced engagement. The researchers found that it was not the extent or amount of teleworking that had the most significant impact but the level of autonomy and the interaction between colleagues that had the most significant effect on employee well-being.

Implementing Strategies

Least Effective Strategies

Supervisors have specific authority and power to oversee and direct employee work experiences. Some strategies have been found effective, yet some are less effective in improving performance. For instance, P1 states," Yelling or reading the riot act to somebody, I've hated seeing people do that. I've seen them do it in person. I've heard him do it online. That's so counterproductive, especially if it's in front of somebody else." P3 and P1 agree that yelling at someone is the least effective strategy. P1 adds, "I've been in virtual meetings, and someone will get called out, and then there'll be an email fight afterward. Let's not call people out in front of others. It creates discontentment." Fischer et al. (2021) indicate that yelling at an employee is abusive supervision. Abusive supervision is defined as a subordinate's perception of the extent to

which supervisors engage in the sustained display of hostile verbal and nonverbal behaviors, excluding physical contact.

A second ineffective strategy for addressing underperformance is confrontation avoidance, wherein the supervisor ignores and does not address deficient performance. P4 says:

There are managers, supervisors, and even team leads who don't like to have the perception that they're not liked; therefore, they are not confrontational and do not want to address issues. They use another strategy that does not increase productivity or performance, such as redoing somebody's work for them.

P4 then continues to say:

If you don't tell somebody what they're doing is incorrect or shouldn't be done in a specific way, and you take the documents, review them, and make the changes yourself, then you are not genuinely helping that individual to learn. Yes, you're getting the job done, but if you're delegating that work and you see it come back, take it, and redo it, what's the point of delegating it in the first place?

People who come into the career field and agencies with varying degrees of knowledge and training are typically given a template or told to copy and paste an existing acquisition. P6 shares:

I've seen it come up quite often when training is conducted, and a person states, "Hey, here's an example; try to figure it out, but unfortunately, my agency does that often. We have people with varying experience levels or no experience—working in contracting. Even if they have experience, one agency may do

something different from the other, and they must learn how the particular agency does the work. So, I don't think that saying to someone, here's an example, take a stab at it, is the best way, especially in a virtual environment. Yes, we're all busy, but find the time for one-on-one training.

The participants indicate that communication is vital. The least effective strategies include Ignoring the employee, not ensuring they have the tools and training required to perform the job, and not offering clear, actionable feedback. More effective strategies can be employed to support the manager in addressing underperformance.

Most Effective Strategies

The participants agreed that the most effective strategies are centered around communication using methods such as one-to-one meetings, Teams or Zoom meetings, and chats while being friendly and engaging, allowing employees to come up with solutions to their issues by asking thought-provoking questions and being a good listener were most prevalent. P1 shares that the most effective strategy has been" not necessarily being their friend but their acquaintance that they are not worried about, they're not afraid of, so they will come to talk to me about anything." P4 emphasizes" communication, communication, and meeting with employees face to face whenever possible as it increases engagement." However, P4 also indicates that in this remote environment, there are other opportunities to engage a team if they cannot meet face to face: "You can do virtual lunches on Zoom or Teams, cameras on and have lunch together, share in successes, virtual birthday parties. Communication and intentionality are imperative."

P5 says, "I think the most effective strategy is to turn your camera on and ask that employee," "Hey, can you turn your camera on and look? Let's look at each other and have a conversation." P6 adds to the conversation," I frequently communicate with my team using Microsoft Teams. I encourage the use of cameras versus audio to see expressions. If an employee needs training, I schedule time. I also work with them if they are struggling with something." Adding that personal touch is critically important, and several participants have stated the strategy of having the camera on. Yet, there are times when an agency policy dictates whether the use of cameras can be requested of employees. For instance, P3 indicates:

You should have that personal touch and get to know your employees even though they are remote. HR told me we cannot force people to turn on their cameras. I could not believe it. My camera is always on, and others say, "Oh my goodness, you are not shy about showing up in the virtual world? I responded, "I might as well let you guys know who you are speaking to."

Luebstorf et al. (2023) found that turning off the camera during videoconferences was stressful, contradicting another study conducted by Shockley et al. (2021), who found it less stressful. In the Luebstorf study, meeting facilitators were interviewed instead of meeting participants. The participants may have a different point of view than that of the facilitator regarding camera use. Another reason for the difference in the study may be the timing in which the study was conducted. In Shockley et al., data were collected during the second wave of the COVID-19 pandemic after a summer of reduced restrictions and increased personal liberties.

In contrast, Luebstorf et al. (2023) collected data in spring 2021 after the long COVID-19 winter of 2020/2021, when restrictions were tighter. Thus, the people we questioned had been socially isolated for a while. The lack of social interaction in many sectors of life may have made cameras a valuable way to interact with people during and post-pandemic activities. The study's meeting leaders noted that activating the camera promotes virtual meeting etiquette and team dynamics but should be balanced with the wishes of attendees who may switch off their cameras (allowing them to leave the meeting). Luebstorf et al. (2023) concluded that it would be interesting to study camera usage in client meetings, virtual educational meetings like training seminars, and virtual coffee break meetings to identify any contradicting effects. The researchers also found that videoconferences without pre-meeting interaction stress participants. In-person meetings are better for introverts when they include preliminary interaction. This initial interaction is the conversation that happens before the meeting starts when all team members arrive early and wait for the meeting facilitator.

One strategy found effective is keeping cameras on with increased online interaction. Some participants also employ frequent communication and coaching through work problems. P7 offers a few strategies that could encourage employee performance:

Supervisors should be giving the person a chance to correct their issue and learn from it, allowing people the freedom and flexibility to work toward remedying issues, keeping that open line of communication, and fostering that environment where they can come to you for anything, open door policy, being available and,

nonjudgmental. Listen, listen to listen, but not just respond. Many people I have worked with in the past listen to and respond instead of trying to figure out what the employees are trying to say. Listening to their employee's state of mind, whether it's their emotions regarding the situation or how they feel and think about it, but not feeding into that so much, but just empathy and then suggesting resolutions. I let them devise a solution and tell me how they want to proceed. I want them to have freedom and flexibility and exercise their thinking and judgment. Most importantly, I want them to be comfortable with how they will move forward at the end of the day.

According to the participants, interactive activities and nonwork-related conversations such as chats and chews are effective strategies. Additional strategies include rewarding workers with leadership programs and classes that they are interested in, special duty assignments, on-the-spot time off, or monetary awards. When issues arise, coaching and mentoring methods have been the majority approach. This approach increases job autonomy and critical thinking coupled with supervisory support.

Challenges When Implementing Strategies in a Remote Environment

Despite management's efforts to improve employee performance using strategies, there are times when an employee does not show effort towards improvement but is evidently running down the clock until retirement or perhaps needs increased oversight not available in the remote work environment. Participants 1, 4, and 5 directly addressed this issue. P1states:

I haven't had this problem yet, but I know other managers do of just the employee not caring, not wanting to improve, just wanting to keep going the way they are.

They're filling a seat and going to retire eventually, and that's all they care about.

You have apathy in both the office and remote environment. It's easier to get away skating if you're remote than if you're in the office.

P4 backs up this sentiment, stating:

It will be challenging to implement anything strategically, especially since you're in a remote environment. You don't always see that person, so you're unsure if they're actually working, to be honest, due to the agency. There's no method to monitor if someone is working, so communication is paramount.

P5 follows the same thinking about the main challenge: knowing whether the person is working. P5 then continues with the sentiment, "When you're remote, some people are not as accountable to themselves or the job. There are distractions at home, such as kids, pets, phone calls, and TV; some are not focused or productive, yet others are, depending on the person." Regarding the challenges of implementing strategies in the remote environment when working with an employee to improve performance, P5 further states:

I don't want someone who moves the mouse to keep their light green on Teams and then tells me they worked all day and that one action I've been waiting on for three days should have taken 20 minutes. What's happening? I don't like to criticize or punish remote workers. While working from home, you know you're at home. The mailman will arrive, so you'll get up, put a load of clothes in the

washer, and rest. Even if we were at the office, you would make coffee, shred documents, chat at the water cooler, and go to get coffee or a Xerox machine. You would move around and have distractions. Nevertheless, I want to see them be as productive when they're not in front of me as when we're in the office, and I can see what they are doing.

Based on the participants' responses, it is evident that they have some difficulty in knowing whether their workers are working productively or just doing enough to get by until the workload status reviews are revealed. The participants do not have eyes on the employees in the remote environment when they are in an office. Gong et al. (2022) examined this topic by exploring the challenges supervisors face in adequately assessing remote workers, which could affect employee performance assessments and development decisions. The study identified four tactics by Gong et al. to support supervisors: effective communication, training and development, technological savvy, and feedback. According to the study, efficient communication is exemplified by employees who consistently offer comprehensive updates and feedback through established communication channels. This communication helps supervisors remain informed about progress and issues. In training and development, firms must provide programs that enhance supervisors' proficiency in remote management. Acquiring proficiency in digital tools and understanding the complexities of remote work dynamics are crucial competencies. Supervisors can utilize project management and collaboration technologies like Slack, Microsoft Teams, and Asana to oversee job progress efficiently and stay updated on their team's activities (Gong et al., 2022). Finally, establishing a mechanism

for consistent feedback can provide supervisors with vital observations regarding employee performance and areas that may need improvement. These communications can be accomplished by using virtual one-on-one meetings and performance reviews. By incorporating these resources, supervisors can overcome remote work challenges and understand their team's productivity and well-being. Additionally, virtual networking, enabling virtual social interactions, might help supervisors promote team unity and develop a deeper understanding of their staff, including virtual coffee breaks, teambuilding exercises, and casual progress updates.

As mentioned by Gong et al., technology plays a part in assessing job progress, team updates, and productivity in 2022. The participants also identified technology as a challenge. P3 indicates, "Sometimes the VPN connectivity is faulty; you want to ensure that employees have suitable access and connectivity when working remotely." P7 states that:

We use our contract writing system that sets the milestones and follows the procurement acquisition lead time, but it doesn't allow for human error or unexpected delays. That's where we, as managers, come in. We must keep these contracts moving and do it effectively and passionately. "Passionate" is a big word there because we must keep morale up while not hurting or insulting folks.

Implementing strategies in a remote environment can be challenging due to a lack of early and frequent communication about workload, cameras, and faulty technology.

Although the challenges create difficulty, working remotely has advantages and disadvantages for the employee and employer.

In-Office versus Remote Work Differences

In question six, participants were asked how the strategies used in a remote environment differ from those chosen in a non-remote environment. P4 states:

We have employees on a compressed work schedule from 6:00 in the morning, working four 10-hour days. Their productivity does not seem to decrease; everything gets done, including reports. As managers, we can offer these hours without dictating specific work hours; employees personally make the request in our agency.

P7 indicated that at home, "I don't mind staying online for 30 minutes to over an hour because I'm not battling in traffic anymore, which increases productivity. I can pay more attention to my work and the details." Additionally, P7 states, "I can sit down and take time to read something and not rush through documents; my work is much more thorough. Some employees say their work is more thorough because they can take their time now." Although productivity may increase, interaction between colleagues may also be a by-product of working remotely. P4 states that:

In a virtual environment, you must intentionally reach out to someone, whether to ask for assistance or check up on them. Regardless of the situation, there's a need for deliberate action; otherwise, you'll risk isolation unless someone reaches out to you. Intentionality is crucial in a remote setting.

Remote work, while not a new concept, has been thrust into the forefront of work environment necessities by the COVID-19 pandemic. The key to boosting performance and production in this setting lies in the worker's ability to be autonomous and

accountable. Clear organizational rules and frequent engagement with supervisors and colleagues are crucial factors that can significantly increase the potential for success in a remote environment. This knowledge empowers us to navigate the challenges of remote work effectively. Mentorship, family support, and supervisory guidance also significantly reduce employees' difficulty connecting with colleagues and social isolation (Taksi-Deveciyan & Alay, 2023). Finally, my findings align with current literature, such as those of Ng et al. (2022), who examined the relationship between remote work, emotional exhaustion, and job performance. Their results indicate that external supports like technological knowledge, government, organizational support, personal attitude, flexibility, and job autonomy significantly impact remote workers' job performance.

Business Contributions and Recommendations for Professional Practice

This qualitative pragmatic inquiry research project explored the strategies remote contract managers used to increase the performance of underperforming remote federal contract specialists. The participants offered invaluable input on the strategies and tools they have used to improve the performance of underperforming employees. This includes ensuring proper developmental and formational training, providing adequate performance feedback and evaluation regularly (without supervisors waiting until the employees significantly underperform as evidenced by metrics and customer complaints), and communicating expectations and information frequently through meetings, level one supervisors, and one-on-ones. Each theme in my data analysis is communication, workload, performance management, and collegial cohesion, which work together

seamlessly to support the success of the business, contract specialist, and government functions.

Once warranted to become contracting officers, contract specialists are the only individuals empowered to obligate government funds as appropriated by Congress. In fiscal year (FY) 2020, defense contract obligations reached \$421.3 billion, marking a 41 percent increase compared to FY 2015. This rise can be attributed to budget caps and reduced foreign deployments that decreased Department of Defense (DoD) contract expenditures during that period (Sanders et al., 2023). The recent spending surge coincided with notable acquisition and strategy adjustments.

Product spending has increased, and Other Transaction Authority (OTA) agreements for research and development have partially replaced traditional contracts. With the implementation of the 2022 National Defense Authorization Act nearing completion and the Biden-Harris administration preparing to unveil a new National Security Strategy, it is an excellent time to contemplate the last five years of acquisition processes and how the changes will affect future defense acquisitions (Sanders et al., 2023). Contract specialists have an impact on several industries. Therefore, their ability to perform well is crucial to federal government functioning and business success. For instance, \$637 billion was spent on federal contracts to procure goods and services ranging from IT-related products and aircraft to drugs and biologicals in fiscal year 2021 (GAO Innovations, 2022). During the same time, COVID-19 drug and biological spending increased from \$35 billion to \$52 billion (A Snapshot of Government-wide Contracting for FY 2021 (Interactive Dashboard), 2023). These services and commodities

were purchased from businesses large and small by contract specialists who perform market research to discover those capable of providing goods and services promptly at a fair and reasonable price as mandated by the Federal Acquisition Regulation.

The Biden administration's emphasis on infrastructure, technology, and clean energy reflects the country's budget and priorities, aiming to boost innovation and enhance business success (House, 2023). Collaborations between small businesses and contracting experts exemplify how partnerships can elevate business achievements. The Biden-Harris Administration has articulated its commitment to expanding access for small businesses to federal contracts exceeding \$700 billion (White House, 2024), global purchaser of goods and services. Federal contracts are pivotal in fostering economic growth in marginalized communities and leveraging diverse talents nationwide. These endeavors align with the Investing in America initiative and the President's objective to raise the share of federal contract funds allocated to socially and economically disadvantaged individuals, set to reach 15% by Fiscal Year 2025, marking a 50% increase from the initial term (White House, 2024). In a landscape emphasizing diversity, equity, and inclusion alongside expanding minority business opportunities, Brunjes and Kellough (2018) explored the relationship between the minority status of contract specialists and the allocation of federal contracts to minority-owned enterprises. The study concluded that the presence of minority college-educated contract specialists in federal decision-making roles correlated with increased federal contracts awarded to minority businesses.

To make these substantial connections in support of the taxpayer and government and adequately expend taxpayer dollars by ensuring fairness to the government and contractor and reasonableness in price, thorough training of the contract specialist is critical. The training should be comprehensive from foundational to continuing to further develop and enhance the function of the contracting professional. It gives them the acumen, tools, regulatory guidance, and capacity to conduct market research, ask pertinent questions, and follow proper procedures. The importance of this training is evident in the execution of government supplies, construction, research, development, and services crucial for governmental operations. Contract specialists handle a wide array of purchases, ranging from military aircraft like the F-16 and tanks to infrastructure like highways and everyday items such as pens and laptops used by government personnel to serve citizens. A proficient contract specialist is a pillar of strength for the U.S. The investment in recruiting, training, and building trust with the authority to allocate taxpayer funds is significant and should be taken seriously by supervisors. Implementing strategies to support underperforming personnel will enable supervisors to provide aid and direction to guide them back on track.

Implications for Social Change

The underperformance of contract specialists in business reduces the availability of qualified public service employees, resulting in a diminished capacity of the federal government to procure the necessary goods and services essential for the functioning of national federal programs. Positive social change can occur when federal officials know how to enhance the performance of, stabilize, and retain virtual contract specialists.

Competent, fully performing contract specialists better serve taxpayers, defense, and national consumers. COVID-19 provoked organizational change for government employees. Specialists transitioned their lives like those globally while maintaining the necessary functionality of government. The GAO indicates that telework is a workforce tool during times of crisis to preserve government functionality (U. S. Government Accountability Office [GAO], (n.d).)

In 2020, the Office of Management and Budget directed federal agencies to allow workers to perform work duties at home to prevent the spread of disease; in 2023, agencies were directed to have employees return to their work centers. Yet, the agencies were not left without direction, and the GAO offered these six suggestions regarding how agencies could implement practices supportive of the transition: program planning, telework policies, performance management, managerial support, training and publicizing, technology, and program evaluation (U. S. Government Accountability Office [GAO], n.d.). These suggestions directly correlate with this study, and their implementation could facilitate organizational social change. Study results and literature reviews reveal that supervisor support is crucial to worker performance. Ng et al. (2022) discovered that providing technology and supervisory support influences workers' productivity when exploring the relationship between remote work, emotional exhaustion, and job performance. The results indicate that external support, including technology expertise, government and organizational support, and internal attitude, flexibility, and job autonomy, impact remote workers' job performance.

Outside of organizational change is the impact of thriving small businesses on community relations and economic well-being. A well-functioning contract specialist who has been trained will partner with the Small Business Administration, seeking opportunities to set aside contracts for the designated categories for contract awards. Telework benefits government agencies and federal workers. The benefits include improving staff recruitment and retention, reducing office space costs, and improving work-life balance. Telework helps firms achieve their goals during interruptions. Federal human capital managers see teleworking as a flexible labor strategy. By recruiting and retaining competent workers, skills gaps may be closed.

Further, employees can potentially experience increased job satisfaction and engagement. Many have celebrated the reduced travel time and personal work-related costs such as clothing and food (Elshaiekh et al., 2018). Parents can flex their time, pick their children up from school, spend time with them (Bathini & Kandathil, 2019), make appointments, and care for aging parents. There is potential for a win-win for Congress and contract specialists if an understanding of underperformance can be reached. Finding the balance between the federal government and the workers will best serve the public interest.

Recommendations for Further Research

An interesting phenomenon for future research is how a worker can experience social isolation while simultaneously having electronic work-related interactions via conferencing and other online platforms several times weekly. A researcher could examine the effect of agency-established performance expectations, job autonomy, and

leadership style on employee engagement. Quantitative research could ascertain the impact of the worker's birth generation, technology use, and alternative work flexibility on turnover intention. There is also an opportunity to learn which leadership style is most conducive to managing Baby Boomers and Generation X in a virtual or hybrid work environment.

Conclusion

This inquiry aimed to identify and evaluate the strategies used by federal contract supervisors to increase the performance of underperforming remote contract specialists. As discovered within this research study, communication, workload, performance management, and support from colleagues and supervisors serve as pillars of support towards improved employee performance. The seven participants indicated that communication is crucial from hiring to retiring. Communication includes feedback, coaching, training, one-on-one meetings, evaluation, position descriptions, and performance discussions. Communication was the most effective strategy, regardless of whether the member was performing well or underperforming. The least effective method was negative or toxic communication in the form of yelling, a disrespectful tone, and aggressive presentation towards colleagues at meetings and in emails. The most effective strategies are communication and one-to-one training.

The second theme is workload, which supervisors contend with as new requirements are distributed to the contract specialists. Meeting timelines indicate performance and underperformance when specialists do not meet customer needs. Trackers, Excel spreadsheets, and software are means of tracking, but even those

methods have flaws. The third theme is performance management. The government indicates that performance should be managed through communication, evaluation, assessment, and improvement. In the contracting career, these steps are actioned through the initial position description. Performance management includes using evaluation tools such as software, discussing the position descriptions and evaluation factors with employees from the time of hiring, and again at the periodic reviews. Supervisors should also frequently perform one-on-one reviews not tied to official review schedules. The third theme of supervisory and collegiate support emphasizes their role in employee engagement and productivity. Social support from colleagues and supervisors creates an engaging environment and reduces the potential incidence of social isolation.

Federal business leaders could find it particularly beneficial to intentionally engage with employees irrespective of the employee location by using opportunities such as brown bag training, physical meetups, interactive online activities, virtual birthday celebrations, and short burst training breaks throughout the month. Finally, all participants agreed that underperformance should be addressed as soon as a potential issue is identified.

This study fills a contextual gap that exists within literature. There is a decent body of existing research on the topics of leadership, workload management, remote work, and employee motivation, the individual drivers of engagement. The focus is generally in relation to job satisfaction and turnover intention. and the drivers of engagement, not performance. This study focuses on asking business leaders what strategies they have used actually to drive performance. How does the leader engage,

motivate, communicate, inform, increase, and measure performance? How does the leader know when the method is or is not working? This study fills in the gap of what strategies leaders have used that work, the difficulty of implementation, and the competing priorities of remote versus office work when increasing performance.

Finally, the focus on the contracting career field in the U.S. federal government is unique as there is not much literature on this population in any capacity. This population's responsibility, albeit in office or remote, has a paramount impact on the expenditure of annual congressional appropriations. This population must be fully performing as they handle all taxpayer money allocated for spending in service of the US federal government and US federal construction, supplies, and services.

References

- Abbas, M., & Ali, R. (2023). Transformational versus transactional leadership styles and project success: A meta-analytic review. *European Management Journal*, 41(1), 125–142. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.emj.2021.10.011
- Abdelwahed, N. A., Soomro, B. A., & Shah, N. (2023). Predicting employee performance through transactional leadership and entrepreneur's passion among the employees of Pakistan. *Asia Pacific Management Review*, 28(1), 60-68. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apmrv.2022.03.001
- Adashi, E. Y., Walters, L. B., & Menikoff, J. A. (2018). The Belmont Report at 40:

 Reckoning with time. *American Journal of Public Health*, 108(10), 1345–1348.

 https://doi.org/10.2105/ajph.2018.304580
- Ahmed, S. K. (2024). The pillars of trustworthiness in qualitative research. *Journal of Medicine, Surgery, and Public Health*, 100051.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.glmedi.2024.100051
- Akuffo, K. O., Agyei-Manu, E., Kumah, D. B., Danso-Appiah, A., Mohammed, A. S., Asare, A. K., & Addo, E. K. (2021). Job satisfaction and its associated factors among optometrists in Ghana: a cross-sectional study. *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes*, 19(1), 12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12955-020-01650-3
- Alam, K. (2021). A systematic qualitative case study: Questions, data collection, NVivo analysis and saturation. *Qualitative Research in Organizations and Management*, 16(1), 1–31. https://doi.org/10.1108/QROM-09-2019-1825

- Almasri, B. M., & McDonald, D. D. (2021). Philosophical assumptions used in research on barriers for effective cancer pain management: A scoping review. *Pain Management Nursing*, 22(5), 634–644. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pmn.2021.04.006
- Anand, A. A., & Acharya, S. N. (2021). Employee engagement in a remote working scenario. *International Research Journal of Business Studies*, *14*(2), 119–127. https://doi.org/10.21632/irjbs.14.2.119-127
- Andriansyah, M. A., Sudiro, A., & Juwita, H. A. J. (2023). Employee performance as mediated by organisational commitment between transactional leadership and role ambiguity. *International Journal of Research in Business and Social Science*, 12(5), 139-150. https://doi.org/10.20525/ijrbs.v12i5.2669
- Armstrong, M., & Taylor, S. (2020). Armstrong's handbook of human resource management practice. Kogan Page Publishers.
- Aronsson, G., Hagberg, J., Björklund, C., Aboagye, E., Marklund, S., Leineweber, C., & Bergström, G. (2021). Health and motivation as mediators of the effects of job demands, job control, job support, and role conflicts at work and home on sickness presenteeism and absenteeism. *International Archives of Occupational and Environmental Health*, 94(3), 409–418. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00420-020-01591-w
- Asplund, S., Åhlin, J., Åström, S., & Lindgren, B.-M. (2022). Experiences of work-related stress among highly stressed municipal employees in rural northern Sweden. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies on Health & Well-Being*, 17(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1080/17482631.2022.2056957

- Atmowardoyo, H. (2018). Research methods in TEFL studies: Descriptive research, case study, error analysis, and R & D. *Journal of Language Teaching and Research*, 9(1), 197–204. https://doi.org/10.17507/jltr.0901.25
- Ayub, A., Choudry, Z. A., Ehsan, S. B., Farooq, H. U., & Tahir, M. M. (2022). Burnout among basic sciences faculty; a mixed method research. *Pakistan Armed Forces Medical Journal*, 72(4), 1189–93. https://doi.org/10.51253/pafmj.v72i4.7888
- Babu, T. S. K., & Balamurugan, A. (2022). Exploring The Post-Disaster Conceptual Impact And Its Effect On Employee Performance. *Webology*, *19*(4), 572–577
- Baig, S. A., Iqbal, S., Abrar, M., Baig, I. A., Amjad, F., Zia-ur-Rehman, M., & Awan,
 M.U. (2021). Impact of leadership styles on employees' performance with
 moderating role of positive psychological capital. *Total Quality Management and*Business Excellence, 32(9-10), 1085-1105.
 - https://doi.org/10.1080/14783363.2019.1665011
- Bakker, A. B., & Demerouti, E. (2007). The job demands-resources model: State of the art. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 22, 309-328. http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/02683940710733115
- Bakker, A. B., Demerouti, E., & Sanz-Vergel, A. (2023). Job demands—resources theory:

 Ten years later. *Annual Review of Organizational Psychology and Organizational Behavior*. 10. 25-53. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-orgpsych-120920-053933
- Bardhan, R., Byrd, T., & Boyd, J. (2023). Workforce management during the time of *COVID-19*—lessons learned and future measures. COVID. https://doi.org/10.3390/covid3010001

- Bathini, D. R., & Kandathil, G. M. (2019). An orchestrated negotiated exchange: Trading home-based telework for intensified work. Journal of Business Ethics, 154(2), 101 411–423. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-017-3449-y
- Benge, M., & Beattie, P. (2021). Challenges of early career extension agents in Florida. *Advancements in Agricultural Development*, 2(1), 42–55. https://doi.org/10.37433/aad.v2i1.87
- Berdicchia, D., & Masino, G. (2020). The role of pro-organizational motivation as antecedent of job crafting: a qualitative exploration. *International Journal of Business and Management*, *15*(10), 1-12. https://doi.org/10.5539/ijbm.v15n10p1
- Borst, R. T., Kruyen, P. M., & Lako, C. J. (2019). Exploring the job demands–resources model of work engagement in government: bringing in a psychological perspective. *Review of Public Personnel Administration*, *39*(3), 372–397. https://doi.org/10.1177/0734371X17729870
- Brown, T. C., Mazumdar, B., & McCracken, M. (2018). Performance Management: A Scoping Review of the Literature and an Agenda for Future Research. *Human Resource Development Review*. https://doi.org/10.1177/1534484318798533
- Burroughs, L., & Grant, C. (2023). Managerial coaching as the foundation for building felt-trust and motivation among employees working remotely. *International Coaching Psychology Review*, *18*(1), 45–57.

 https://doi.org/10.53841/bpsicpr.2023.18.1.45

- Busetto, L., Wick, W., & Gumbinger, C. (2020). How to use and assess qualitative research methods. *Neurological Research and Practice*, 2(14), https://doi.org/10.1186/s42466-020-00059-z
- Campbell, J. P., Maxey, V. A., & Watson, W. A. (1995). Hawthorne effect: implications for prehospital research. *Annals of Emergency Medicine*, 26(5), 590–594. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0196-0644(95)70009-9
- Candel, O. S., & Arnăutu, M. (2021). Psychological entitlement and work-related outcomes during the COVID-19 pandemic. The role of telecommuting as a moderator. *Romanian Journal of Applied Psychology*, 23(2), 46–52. https://doi.org/10.24913/rjap.23.2.04
- Ceryes, C. A., Agnew, J., Wirtz, A. L., Barnett, D. J., & Neff, R. A. (2023). Exploring
 U.S. food system workers' intentions to work while ill during the early COVID19 pandemic: A National Survey. *International Journal of Environmental*Research and Public Health, 20(2). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph20021638
- Chanana, N. (2021). Employee engagement practices during COVID-19 lockdown. *Journal of Public Affairs*, 21(4), e2508. https://doi.org/10.1002/pa.2508
- Chiesa, M., & Hobbs, S. (2008). Making sense of social research: How useful is the Hawthorne Effect? *European Journal of Social Psychology*, *38*(1), 67–74. https://doi.org/10.1002/ejsp.401
- Coker, D. (2022). A thematic analysis of the structure of delimitations in the dissertation.

 International Journal of Doctoral Studies, 17, 141-159.

 https://doi.org/10.28945/4939

- Congressional Research Service. (2022, June 28). Federal workforce statistics sources:

 OPM and OMB. Congressional Research Service.

 https://crsreports.congress.gov/product/pdf/R/R43590/20
- Demerouti, E. (2018). Integrating individual strategies in the job demands-resources theory. *Istanbul Business Research*, 47(1), 5-32. https://doi.org/10.26650/ibr.2018.47.1.0001
- Dhanesh, G. S., & Picherit-Duthler, G. (2021). Remote internal crisis communication (RICC)—Role of internal communication in predicting employee engagement during remote work in a crisis. *Journal of Public Relations Research*, 33(5), 292–313. https://doi.org/10.1080/1062726X.2021.2011286
- Dhone, M. Y., & Sarwoko, E. (2022). Internal communication and employee performance: The mediating role of motivation. *Jurnal Ekonomi Modernisasi*, 18(2), 255–263. https://doi.org/10.21067/jem.v18i2.6709
- Dilger, H., Pels, P., & Sleeboom-Faulkner, M. (2018). Guidelines for data management and scientific integrity in ethnography. *Ethnography*, 20(1), 3–7. https://doi.org/10.1177/1466138118819018
- Doberstein, C., & Charbonneau, É. (2022). Alienation in pandemic-induced telework in the public sector. *Public Personnel Management*, *51*(4), 491–515. https://doi.org/10.1177/00910260221114788
- Dong, J., & Yan, S. (2022). A multicriteria approach for measuring employee well-being. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *13*, 795960. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2022.795960

- Edney, S., Bogomolova, S., Ryan, J., Olds, T., Sanders, I., & Maher, C. (2018). Creating engaging health promotion campaigns on social media: observations and lessons from Fitbit and Garmin. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 20(12), e10911. https://doi.org/10.2196/10911
- Edú-Valsania, S., Laguía, A., & Moriano, J. A. (2022). Burnout: A Review of Theory and Measurement. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 19(3), 1780. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19031780
- El Mouedden, I., Hellemans, C., Anthierens, S., Michels, N. R., & DeSmet, A. (2022).

 Experiences of academic and professional burn-out in medical students and residents during first COVID-19 lockdown in Belgium: a mixed-method survey. *Bio-Medical Central Medical Education*, 22(1), 631.

 https://doi.org/10.1186/s12909-022-03694-z
- Elshaiekh, N. E. M., Hassan, Y. A. A., & Abdallah, A. A. A. (2018). The impacts of remote working on workers performance. 2018 International Arab Conference on Information Technology (ACIT), Werdanye, Lebanon, 2018, pp. 1–5, https://doi.org/10.1109/ACIT.2018.8672704
- Ennever, F. K., Nabi, S., Bass, P. A., Huang, L. O., & Fogler, E. C. (2019). Developing language to communicate privacy and confidentiality protections to potential clinical trial subjects: meshing requirements under six applicable regulations, laws, guidelines and funding policies. *Journal of Research Administration*, 50(1), 20-44.

- Essa, M., Sayed, T., & Reyad, P. (2019). Transferability of real-time safety performance functions for signalized intersections. Accident Analysis and Prevention, 12(9), 263-276. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aap.2019.05.029
- Eva, N., Meacham, H., Newman, A., Schwarz, G., & Tham, T. L. (2019). Is coworker feedback more important than supervisor feedback for increasing innovative behavior? *Human Resource Management*, 58(4), 383–396.

 https://doi.org/10.1002/hrm.21960
- Fantahun, B., Dellie, E., Worku, N., & Debie, A. (2023). Organizational commitment and associated factors among health professionals working in public hospitals of southwestern Oromia, Ethiopia. *Bio-Medical Central Health Services Research*, 23(1), 180. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-023-09167-3
- Fischer, T., Tian, A. W., Lee, A., & Hughes, D. J. (2021). Abusive supervision: A systematic review and fundamental rethink. *The Leadership Quarterly*, *32*(6). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2021.101540
- Fusch, P., Fusch, G. E., & Ness, L. R. (2018). Denzin's paradigm shift: revisiting triangulation in qualitative research. *Journal of Social Change*, 10, 19-32. https://doi.org/10.5590/JOSC.2018.10.1.02
- Galanti, T., Guidetti, G., Mazzei, E., Zappalà, S., & Toscano, F. (2021). Work from home during the COVID-19 outbreak: the impact on employees' remote work productivity, engagement, and stress. *Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 63(7), e426–e432. https://doi.org/10.1097/JOM.00000000000000002236

- Giauque, D., Renard, K., Cornu, F., & Emery, Y. (2022). Engagement, exhaustion, and perceived performance of public employees before and during the COVID-19 crisis. *Public Personnel Management*, *51*(3), 263–290. https://doi.org/10.1177/00910260211073154
- Gigliotti, M. F., Bartolo, A., & Coello, Y. (2023). Paying attention to the outcome of others' actions has dissociated effects on observer's peripersonal space representation and exploitation. *Scientific Reports*, 13(1), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-023-37189-8
- Gill, M. J. (2020). The possibilities of phenomenology for organizational research.

 *Organizational Research Methods, 17(2), 118–137.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1094428113518348
- Giumelli, F., & Van Roozendaal, G. (2017). Trade agreements and labour standards clauses: Explaining labour standards developments through a qualitative comparative analysis of U.S. free trade agreements. *Global Social Policy*, *17*(1), 38–61. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468018116637209
- Gnepp, J., Klayman, J., Williamson, I. O., & Barlas, S. (2020). The future of feedback: Motivating performance improvement through future-focused feedback. *PLoS ONE*, *15*(6). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0234444
- Gong, B., Tobias, P., & Young-Bristol, J. (2023). Leveraging resources to improve supervisors' vision in the remote workplace. *Management Research**Review, 46(6), 777–789. https://doi.org/10.1108/MRR-12-2021-0916

- H.R.139 -118th Congress (2023-2024).(2023, February 2). SHOW UP Act of 2023. https://www.congress.gov/bill/118th-congress/house-bill/139
- Hakanen, J. J., Bakker, A. B., & Turunen, J. (2021). The relative importance of various job resources for work engagement: A concurrent and follow-up dominance analysis. *BRQ Business Research Quarterly*, *0*(0).

 https://doi.org/10.1177/23409444211012419
- Hays, D. G., & McKibben, W. B. (2021). Promoting rigorous research: Generalizability and qualitative research. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 99(2), 178–188
- Heiden, M., Widar, L., Wiitavaara, B., & Boman, E. (2021). Telework in academia:

 Associations with health and well-being among staff. *Higher Education*, 81(4),
 707–722. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-020-00569-4
- Heijkants CH, van Hooff MLM, Geurts SAE, & Boot CRL. (2022). A team level participatory approach aimed at improving sustainable employability of long-term care workers: a study protocol of a randomised controlled trial. *Bio Medical Central Public Health*, 22(1), 984. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-022-13312-8
- Hemamalini V., & Jyothi H. P. (2024). Enhancing Communication and Teamwork Skills in Young Adults: An Intervention Study. *Indian Journal of Positive**Psychology, 15(1), 10–14.
- Hennink, M., & Kaiser, B. N. (2022). Sample sizes for saturation in qualitative research:

 A systematic review of empirical tests. *Social Science & Medicine*, 292.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2021.114523

Hobfoll, S. E. (2002). Social and psychological resources and adaptation. *Review of General Psychology*, 6, 307–324.

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/232556057 Social and Psychological

Resources_and_Adaptation

- Imam, H., Sahi, A., & Farasat, M. (2023). The roles of supervisor support, employee engagement and internal communication in performance: a social exchange perspective. *Corporate Communications: An International Journal*, 28(3), 489–505. https://doi.org/10.1108/CCIJ-08-2022-0102
- Janis, I. (2022). Strategies for establishing dependability between two qualitative intrinsic case studies: a reflexive thematic analysis. *Field Methods*.
 https://doi.org/10.1177_1525822X211069636
- Johnson, J. L., Adkins, D., & Chauvin, S. (2020). A review of the quality indicators of rigor in qualitative research. *American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education*, 84(1), 7120. https://doi.org/10.5688/ajpe7120
- Kang, L. S., & Kaur, G. (2021). Contextual Support and Career Aspirations of Working Women. South Asian Journal of Human Resources Management, 8(1), 54-78. https://doi.org/10.1177/2322093720967803
- Kärner, T., & Höning, J. (2021) Teachers' experienced classroom demands and autonomic stress reactions: results of a pilot study and implications for process-oriented research in vocational education and training. Empirical Research in Vocational Education and Training 13(1), https://doi.org/10.1186/s40461-021-00113-3

- Kelly, L. M., & Cordeiro, M. (2020). Three principles of pragmatism for research on organizational processes. *Methodological Innovations*. https://doi.org/10.1177/2059799120937242
- Kengatharan, N. (2020). The effects of teacher autonomy, student behavior, and student engagement on teacher job satisfaction. *Educational Sciences: Theory & Practice*, 20(4), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.12738/jestp.2020.4.001
- Kiema-Junes, H., Saarinen, A., Muukkonen, H., Väyrynen, S., Ala-Mursula, L., & Hintsanen, M. (2020). Dimensions of social support in the experience of work engagement in middle age: A Northern Finland Birth Cohort 1966 Study.

 Scandinavian Journal of Psychology, 61(5), 679-689.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/sjop.12640
- Kim, J. (2023). Pandemic-Induced Telework Divide of Federal Workforces. *Public Personnel Management*, 1. https://doi.org/10.1177/00910260231175129
- Kniess, D. R., & Walker-Donnelly, K. (2022). Advanced qualitative assessment. *New Directions for Student Services*, (178), 149–161. https://doi.org/10.1002/ss.20436
- Koekemoer, L., de Beer, L., Govender, K., & Brouwers, M. (2021). Leadership behaviour, team effectiveness, technological flexibility, work engagement and performance during COVID-19 lockdown: An exploratory study. *SA Journal of Industrial Psychology*, (47), 8. https://doi.org/10.4102/sajip.v47i0.1829
- Korstjens, I., & Moser, A. (2018). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part

 4: Trustworthiness and publishing. *The European journal of general*practice, 24(1), 120–124. https://doi.org/10.1080/13814788.2017.1375092

- Kowalski, G., & Ślebarska, K. (2022). Remote Working and Work Effectiveness: A

 Leader Perspective. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 19(22). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph192215326
- Kyei-Frimpong, M., Amoako, E. O., Akwetey-Siaw, B., Boakye, K. O., Adu, I.N., Suleman, A. R., & Bawa, A. A. (2023). Employee empowerment and organizational commitment among employees of star-rated hotels in Ghana: does perceived supervisor support matter? *Journal of Work-Applied Management;*Emerald Publishing Limited. https://doi.org/10.1108/jwam-05-2023-0038
- Lafraxo, M. A., Ouadoud, M., Madhi, Y. E., Rehali, M., & Soulaymani, A. (2021).

 Burnout syndrome prevention measures among nursing staff: implementing a mobile application based on MIT's app inventor tool using the scratch programming code. *International Journal of Online and Biomedical Engineering*17(04), 81. https://doi.org/10.3991/IJOE.V17I04.20393
- Lee, D. Y., & Jo, Y. (2023). The job demands-resource model and performance: The mediating role of employee engagement. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 14. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2023.1194018
- Leedy, P. D., & Ormrod, J. E. (2019). Practical research. Holt, Rinehart, and Winston.

 <u>0134775651.pdf (pearsonhighered.com)</u>
- Li, H., Liu, S.-M., Yu, X.-H., Tang, S.-L., & Tang, C.-K. (2020). Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19): Current status and future perspectives. *International Journal of Antimicrobial Agents*.

- $\frac{\text{https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/}10.1080/02678373.2018.1529065?journalC}{\text{ode=twst20}}$
- Li, S., Meng, B., & Wang, Q. (2022). The double-edged sword effect of relational crafting on job well-being. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 13. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2022.713737
- Liu, Z., Zhao, L., Wang, S., Gao, Y., & Zhang, L. (2022). The association between occupational stress and mental health among Chinese soccer referees in the early stage of reopening soccer matches during the COVID-19 pandemic outbreak: a moderated mediation model. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 19(24), 16750. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph192416750
- Maguire, M., & Delahunt, B. (2017). Doing a thematic analysis: A practical, step-by-step guide for learning and teaching scholars. *AISHE-J: The All Ireland Journal of Teaching & Learning in Higher Education*, 9(3), 3351–33514.
- Mehta, P. (2022), "Work alienation as a mediator between work from home-related isolation, loss of task identity and job insecurity amid the COVID-19 pandemic", *International Journal of Workplace Health Management*, 15(3), 287-306. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJWHM-03-2021-0070
- Mendoza Solis, M., García Alcaraz, J. L., Avelar Sosa, L., & Manotas Duque, D. F.
 (2023). The role of transactional leadership in the social performance of the
 maquiladora industry. Revista Brasileira de Gestão de Negócios, 25(2), 215–233.
 https://doi.org/10.7819/rbgn.v25i2.4219

- Mensah, A. (2021). Job stress and mental well-being among working men and women in Europe: the mediating role of social support. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18(5).

 https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18052494
- Meyer, B., Zill, A., Dilba, D., Gerlach, R., & Schumann, S. (2021). Employee psychological well-being during the COVID-19 pandemic in Germany: A longitudinal study of demands, resources, and exhaustion. *International Journal of Psychology*. *56*(4), 532-550. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijop.12743
- Mockałło, Z., & Widerszal-Bazyl, M. (2021). Role of job and personal resources in the appraisal of job demands as challenges and hindrances. *PLoS ONE 16*(3), https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0248148
- Mohr, J. J., & Metcalf, E. C. (2018). The business perspective in ecological restoration: issues and challenges. *Restoration Ecology*, *26*, 381–390. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/rec.12564
- Motulsky, S. L. (2021). Is member checking the gold standard of quality in qualitative research? *Qualitative Psychology*, 8(3), 389 406. https://doi.org/10.1037/qup0000215
- Mukherjee, D. (2023). *New Age KPI* [LinkedIn page]. LinkedIn. Retrieved July 23, 2024, https://www.linkedin.com/pulse/new-age-kpi-deepan-mukherjee/
- Murray, M., Swan, A. V., Kiryluk, S., & Clarke, G. C. (1988). The Hawthorne effect in the measurement of adolescent smoking. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, 42(3), 304–306. https://doi.org/10.1136/jech.42.3.304

Nasrul, R. N., Zainal, V. R., & Hakim, A. (2023). Workload, work stress, and employee performance: A literature review. Dinasti International Journal of Education Management and Social Science, *International Journal of Business Marketing and Management*. 4(3), 415–422.

https://www.dinastipub.org/DIJEMSS/article/view/1680

- Nassaji, H. (2020). Good qualitative research. Language Teaching Research, 24(4), 427-431. https://doi.org/10.1177/1362168820941288
- National Commission for The Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research. (1979). *The Belmont Report: Ethical principles and guidelines for the protection of human subjects of research.*
- Naz, N., Gulab, F., & Aslam, N. (2022). Development of qualitative semi-structured interview guide for case study research. *Competitive Social Sciences Research Journal*, 3(2), 42-52,
 - https://cssrjournal.com/index.php/cssrjournal/article/view/170/72
- Neo, L. S., Tan, J. Y. C., & Chew, T. W. Y. (2022). The influence of COVID-19 on women's perceptions of work-family conflict in Singapore. *Social Sciences* (2076-0760), 11(2), https://doi.org/10.3390/socsci11020073
- Ng, P.M.L.; Lit, K.K.; Cheung, C.T.Y. (2022). Remote work as a new normal? The technology-organization-environment (TOE) context. *Technol. Soc.* (70), Article e102022. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techsoc.2022.102022

- Nossaman, L. E., & Nossaman, B. D. (2022). Hawthorne effect: More than just telephones. *Ochsner Journal*, 22(4), 286–289. https://doi.org/10.31486/toj.22.5031
- Obi, Oke, "Influence of Leader Communication on Employee Motivation" (2018). Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies. 5389.
- Office for National Statistics (2021). Business and individual attitudes towards the future of homeworking, UK. Office for National Statistics.

 https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/e
- Office of Personnel Management (2023. September 18). Federal Register. 5 CFR Parts 210, 212, 213, 302, 432, 451, and 752. Upholding Civil Service Protections and Merit System Principles. https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/FR-2023-09-18/pdf/2023-19806.pdf
- Pathiranage, Y., Jayatilake, L., & Abeysekera, R. (2020). Case study research design for exploration of organizational culture towards corporate performance.

 International Journal of Comparative Management, 21, 361-372.

 http://doi.org/10.24818/RMCI.2020.3.361
- Poucher, Z. A., Tamminen, K. A., Caron, J. G., & Sweet, S. N. (2019). Thinking through and designing qualitative research studies: a focused mapping review of 30 years of qualitative research in sport psychology. *International Review of Sport and*

- Exercise Psychology, 13(1), 163–186. https://doi.org/10.1080/1750984x.2019.1656276
- Ren, C., Li, X., Yao, X., Pi, Z., & Qi, S. (2018). Psychometric properties of the effort-reward imbalance questionnaire for teachers (Teacher ERIQ). *Frontiers in Psychology*, 10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.02047
- Rumambi, S., Masengi, E.E., & Bogar, W. (2022). The effect of organizational commitment and work culture on civil servants public service performance in Tomohon's District Office. *Journal of Social Science*. *3*(2), 163–186 https://doi.org/10.46799/jss.v3i2.320
- Ruslin, R., Mashuri, S., Rasak, M. S. A., Alhabsyi, E., & Syam, H. (2022).

 Semistructured interview: A methodological reflection on the development of a qualitative research instrument in educational studies. *IOSR Journal of Research & Method in Education*, *12*(1), 22-29.

 https://www.researchgate.net/publication/358906376_Semi-structured Interview A Methodological Reflection on the Development of a
 - Structured Interview A Methodological Reflection on the Development of a

 Qualitative Research Instrument in Educational Studies Ruslin
- Ryoo, S.-W., Min, J.-Y., Lee, D.-W., Choi, B.-Y., Choi, J., Kim, H.-Y., & Min, K.-B. (2023). Telecommuting-related health outcomes during the COVID-19 pandemic in South Korea: a national population-based cross-sectional study. *Biomed Central Public Health*, 23(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-023-15271-0
- Sanders, G., Jang, W. J., & Holderness, A. (2023, March 7). 2021 Defense acquisition trends: topline dod trends after a half decade of growth.

- $\underline{\text{https://www.csis.org/analysis/2021-defense-acquisition-trends-topline-dod-trends-after-half-decade-growth}$
- Sanhokwe, H. (2022). The influence of nonwork resources, nonwork demands and external support on work engagement and productivity: A moderated mediation model. *South African Journal of Industrial Psychology*, 48, 1–8.

 https://doi.org/10.4102/sajip.v48i0.1957
- Sedgwick, P. (2012). The Hawthorne Effect. *BMJ*, *344*, d8262-d8262. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.d8262
- Shockley, K. M., Gabriel, A. S., Robertson, D., Rosen, C. C., Chawla, N., Ganster, M. L.,& Ezerins, M. E. (2021). The fatiguing effects of camera use in virtual meetings:A within-person field experiment. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 106(8), 1137.
- Show Up Act of 2023, H.R. 139, 118th Cong. (2023-2024).

 https://www.congress.gov/bill/118th-congress/house-bill/139/text
- Sinclair, M. A., Stephens, K., Whiteman, K., Swanson-Biearman, B., & Clark, J. (2021).

 Managing and motivating the remote employee using the transformational leadership model. *Nurse Leader*, *19*(3), 294–299.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mnl.2021.01.001
- Siruri, M. M., & Cheche, S. (2021). Revisiting the Hackman and Oldham job characteristics model and Herzberg's two-factor theory: propositions on how to make job enrichment effective in today's organizations. *European Journal of Business and Management Research*. 6. 162-167.

http://dx.doi.org/10.24018/ejbmr.2021.6.2.767

- Skaalvik, E. M., & Skaalvik, S. (2018). Job demands and job resources as predictors of teacher motivation and well-being. *Social Psychology of Education*, 21, 1251-1275. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11218-018-9464-8
- Skillgate, E., Isacson Hjortzberg, M., Strömwall, P., Hallqvist, J., Onell, C., Holm, L. W., & Bohman, T. (2021). Non-preferred work and the incidence of spinal pain and psychological distress-a prospective cohort study. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18(19), 10051.
 https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph181910051
- Sommovigo, V., Bernuzzi, C., Finstad, G. L., Setti, I., Gabanelli, P., Giorgi, G., & Fiabane, E. (2023). How and when may technostress impact workers' psychophysical health and work-family interface? A study during the COVID-19 pandemic in Italy. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 20(2), 1266. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph20021266
- Stahl, N. A., & King, J. R. (2020). Expanding approaches for research: Understanding and using trustworthiness in qualitative research. *Journal of Developmental Education*, 44(1), 26–28.
- Supriyono, & Susmonowati, T. (2022). The role of extrinsic and intrinsic motivation to maintain employee performance productivity during work from home (WFH): A case study of a private university in Jakarta. *Technium Social Sciences Journal*, 27, 606–619

- Taksi-Deveciyan, M., & Alay, H. K. (2023). The experiences of new-starters: Remote working in The post-COVID-19 Era. *Sosyoekonomi*, *31*(58), 211–230. https://doi.org/10.17233/sosyoekonomi.2023.04.11
- Titian, R (2024). The influence of competence job stress and workload through job satisfaction on employee performance case study at PT. Serasi Shipping Indonesia, East Kalimantan Province). *IJEBD (International Journal of Entrepreneurship and Business Development)*, 7(2).

 https://doi.org/10.29138/ijebd.v7i2.2705
- Triansyah, A, F., Hejin, W., Stefania, S. (2023). Factors affecting employee performance:

 A systematic review. *Journal Markcount Finance*, 1(3)150-159.

 https://doi.org/10.55849/jmf.v1i2.102
- Troll, E. S., Venz, L., Weitzenegger, F., & Loschelder, D. D. (2022). Working from home during the COVID-19 crisis: How self-control strategies elucidate employees' job performance. Applied Psychology: *An International Review*, 71(3), 853–880. https://doi.org/10.1111/apps.12352
- U. S. Department of Health and Human Services Walden University. (2019). *Doctoral Study Rubric and Research Handbook*. https://catalog.waldenu.edu/
- U. S. Government Accountability Office. (2022, August 25). A Snapshot of Government-wide contracting for FY 2021 (Interactive Dashboard).
 https://www.gao.gov/blog/snapshot-government-wide-contracting-fy-2021-
 interactive-dashboard

- U. S. Government Accountability Office. (2022, February 8). COVID-19: Federal telework increased during the pandemic, but more reliable data are needed to support oversight. GAO-22-104282 GAO. https://www.gao.gov/products/gao-22-104282
- U. S. Government Accountability Office. (2022, May). Innovations. A Snapshot:
 Government-wide contracting. A 2021 Update. https://gaoinnovations.gov/Federal
 Government Contracting/
- U. S. Government Accountability Office. (n.d) Federal Telework: Interior can benefit from strategic workforce planning and following key practices. https://www.gao.gov/products/gao-24-107162
- U. S. Office of Personnel Management (2022) Federal Employee Viewpoint Survey. 2022

 response rate by agency (Excel). OPM. https://www.opm.gov/fevs/reports/data-reports/
- U. S. Office of Personnel Management (n.d) Performance management cycle.
 Monitoring. OPM. https://www.opm.gov/fevs/reports/data-reports/
- U. S. Office of Personnel Management (n.d) *Performance management cycle*.

 Rewarding. OPM. https://www.opm.gov/policy-data-oversight/performance-management-cycle/#url=Rewarding
- U. S. Office of Personnel Management. (2021). Status of telework in the federal government: Report to Congress. OPM. https://telework.gov/reports-studies/reports-to-congress/2021-report-to-congress.pdf

- U. S. Office of Personnel Management. (n.d.-b). *Is there a difference between remote work and telework?* OPM. https://www.opm.gov/frequently-asked-questions/future-of-work-faq/general/is-there-a-difference-between-remote-work-and-telework/
- U.S. Office for Human Research Protection (1979). The Belmont Report: Ethical principles and guidelines for the protection of human subjects of research.
 https://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/regulations-and-policy/belmont-report/index.html
- U.S. Office of Personnel Management. (n.d.). *Performance management cycle*.

 Overview. OPM. https://www.opm.gov/policy-data-oversight/performance-management-cycle/#url=Overview
- U.S. Office of Personnel Management. (n.d.). *Performance management cycle*.

 Developing. OPM. https://www.opm.gov/policy-data-oversight/performance-management-cycle/#url=Developing
- U.S. Office of Personnel Management. (n.d.). *Performance management cycle*. Planning.

 OPM. https://www.opm.gov/policy-data-oversight/performance-management-cycle/#url=Planning
- U.S. Office of Personnel Management. (n.d.). U.S. Office of Personnel Management.
 Telework Legislation. Telework Enhancement Act. OPM.
 https://www.congress.gov/111/plaws/publ292/PLAW-111publ292.pdf
- U.S. Office of Personnel Management. (n.d.-c). *Communication skills*. OPM.

 https://www.opm.gov/policy-data-oversight/performance-
 management/performance-management-cycle/planning/communication-skills/

- U.S. Office of Personnel Management. (n.d-a) *Human capital management*. OPM

 .https://www.opm.gov/policy-data-oversight/human-capital-management/
- Van den Oetelaar, W. F. J. M., Roelen, C. A. M., Grolman, W., Stellato, R. K., & van Rhenen, W. (2021). Exploring the relation between modeled and perceived workload of nurses and related job demands, job resources, and personal resources; a longitudinal study. *PLoS ONE*, *16*(2),121.

https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0246658

- Van der Scheer, J. W., Ansari, A., McLaughlin, M., Cox, C., Liddell, K., Burt, J.,
 George, J., Kenny, R., Cousens, R., Leach, B., McGowan, J., Morley, K., Willars,
 J., & Dixon-Woods, M. (2022). Guiding organisational decision-making about
 COVID-19 asymptomatic testing in workplaces: mixed-method study to inform
 an ethical framework. *Bio Medical Central Public Health*, 22(1),
 https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-022-13993-1
- Vasileiou, K., Barnett, J., Thorpe, S., & Young, T. (2018). Characterising and justifying sample size sufficiency in interview-based studies: systematic analysis of qualitative health research over a 15-year period. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 18(1), 148. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-018-0594-7
- Vieten, L., Wöhrmann, A. M., & Michel, A. (2022). Work-time control and exhaustion: internal work-to-home interference and internal home-to-work interference as mediators. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 19(6). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19063487

- Wang, B., Liu, Y., Qian, J., & Parker, S. K. (2021). Achieving effective remote working during the covid-19 pandemic: a work design perspective. *Applied psychology* = *Psychologie appliquee*, 70(1), 16–59. https://doi.org/10.1111/apps.12290
- White House. (2024, January 25). Fact Sheet: Biden-Harris Administration announces new actions to expand small business access to federal contracts | The American presidency project. https://www.presidency.ucsb.edu/documents/fact-sheet-biden-harris-administration-announces-new-actions-expand-small-business-access
- World Health Organization. (2020). Occupational health: Stress at the workplace.

 https://www.who.int/news-room/questions-and-answers/item/ccupational-health-stress-at-the-workplace
- Worth, J., & Van den Brande, J. (2020). Teacher autonomy: how does it relate to job satisfaction and retention? *National Foundation for Educational Research*.

 https://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED604418
- Wulantika, L., Ayusari, R. M., & Wittine, Z. (2023). Workload, social support and burnout on employee performance. *Journal of Eastern European & Central Asian Research*, 10(1), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.15549/jeecar.v10i1.1069
- Yin, R. K. (2018). *Case study research: Design and methods* (5th ed.). Sage Publications, Inc.
 - https://www.researchgate.net/publication/308385754_Robert_K_Yin_2014_Case

 _Study_Research_Design_and_Methods_5th_ed_Thousand_Oaks_CA_Sage_282
 _pages

- Yoon, D. (2021). How can personnel performance evaluation systems be improved? *Sage Open*, 11(1). https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244020986538
- Zhou, H. & Jaing, K. (2023). The study has clear limitations: Presentation of limitations in conclusion sections of PhD dissertations and research articles in applied linguistics. *English for Specific Purposes*, 71, 34-47.
 http://doi.org/10.1016/j.esp.2023.02.001
- Zito, M., Ingusci, E., Cortese, C. G., Giancaspro, M. L., Manuti, A., Molino, M., Signore, F., & Russo, V. (2021). Does the end justify the means? The role of organizational communication among work-from-home employees during the COVID-19 pandemic. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18(8). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18083933
- Zyphur, M. J., & Pierides, D. C. (2019). Statistics and probability have always been value-laden: An historical ontology of quantitative research methods. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 167(1), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-019-04187-8

Appendix A: Invitation

There is a new study about employee performance in remote work that could help business leaders better understand the benefits and challenges of using strategies to improve remote worker performance. For this study, you are invited to participate in a confidential interview about the strategies remote managers at U.S. federal agencies use to improve the job performance of underperforming remote contract specialists.

About the study:

One 30–60-minute phone interview that will be audio recorded (no videorecording) You will receive a \$10 Visa gift card as a thank you.

To protect your privacy, the published study will not share any names or details that identify you.

Volunteers must meet these requirements:

- Participants must be supervisory contract specialists or general managers who
 work remotely and evaluate and conduct performance reviews of 1102 contracting
 specialists also working remotely for U.S. federal agencies.
- Must have used strategies that improved employee performance
- Must work at a U.S. federal government agency.

Appendix B: Interview Protocol

What I will do	What I will say—script
Introduce the interview and set the	My name is Shaneika Berryman.
stage.	Thank you for taking the time out of
Ask the participants to tell me about	your schedule to participate in this
themselves.	study and speak with me today. The
Reconfirm the statement of consent	research question is: what strategies do
and withdrawal.	remote managers use to increase the
	job performance of underperforming
	remote contract specialists?
	I am a Doctoral Student at Walden
	University and hold a Master of
	Business Degree from Walden
	University. I have worked for the
	government as a 1102 Contract
	Specialist for eight years.
	To confirm my understanding: You
	have agreed to participate in this
	interview through your response to the
	email I sent you, and you
	acknowledged being interviewed

through your signature on the consent form. Please remember that participation in this study is strictly voluntary, and you can change your mind anytime. Are there any concerns that you may have? Thirteen questions will be asked, and the interview will be audio-recorded and will last 30-60 minutes. Please do not state your name or your organization's name during the interview. Lastly, I wanted to ensure I had transcribed and interpreted our semistructured interview correctly. I will schedule a member-checking follow-up based on your availability. 1. What are the benefits of having • Turn on the Zoom recording feature. employees performing well in their • Introduce participant(s) with the coded work-related roles? identification and note the date and time.

- Begin the interview with question 1 and follow through to the last question.
- During the interview, non-verbal cues will be observed and paraphrased as appropriate.
- Ask follow-up questions for more depth and clarity.
- End interview. Discuss member checking with the participant(s).
- Thank the participant(s) for their participation and give them my contact numbers for follow-up questions and concerns if needed.

- 2. How do you determine the level of employee performance?
- 3. How do you identify underperforming employees?
- 4. At what point do you address underperforming employees?
- 5. What strategies do you use to improve employee performance in a virtual environment?
- 6. How do the strategies used in a remote environment differ from those chosen in a non-remote environment?
- 7. How did you communicate these strategies to employees?
- 8. How did you implement these strategies?
- 9. What were your key challenges when implementing strategies to improve performance in a remote environment?
- 10. What strategies are the most effective for improving employee performance?

	11. What strategies are the least effective
	for improving employee performance?
	12. How do you evaluate the success of
	those strategies?
	13. What else might you add to this
	discussion about strategies to improve
	the performance of employees in a
	remote environment?
Wrap up the interview and thank the	Script
participant	This concludes the interview; do you have
	any questions for me? If so, answer; if not,
	thank you sincerely for meeting today and
	participating in the interview.
Schedule follow-up member checking	Script
interview	The follow-up interview will take place on
	XXX date and XXX time and should last only
	thirty minutes. Should you need to reschedule,
	please let me know.
Follow-up Member Checking Interview	

Appendix C: Citi Certificate

